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International Financial Reporting system 

 
 Developed by International Accounting Standard Board 

 Bodies assisting IASB are 

1. Asian Oceanic Standard Setters Group (AOSSG) 

2. European Financial Reporting Group (EFRAG) 

3. Group of Latin American Standard – Setters (GLASS) 

 Comprise of following 

1. International Financial Reporting Standards 

2. International Accounting Standards 

3. Interpretations originated by International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee 

4. Interpretations issued by former Standing Interpretations committee 

 
India has converged to IFRS to achieve harmony with the same 

Indian Accounting Standards 

 MCA in consultation with NACAS notified companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 

2015 on 16th February 2015. It became effective from 1st April 2015. This is an effort to 

converge to IFRS 

 Ind AS Timeline 

 

1.4.2015 to 

31.3.2016 

1. Voluntary 

2. Shall provide comparatives also as per Ind AS 

1.4.2016 

onwards 

1. companies having net worth of Rs.500 crore or more 

2. holding, subsidiary, JV or associate of such companies 

1.4.2017 

onwards 

1. all listed companies other than listed on SME exchange or institutional trading 

platform 

2. others having net worth of Rs.250 crores or more 
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3. holding, subsidiary, JV or associate of such companies 

1.4.2018 

onwards 

1. NBFC having net worth Rs.500 crore or more 

2. Scheduled Commercial banks excluding Regional Rural banks and urban 

cooperative banks 

4. holding, subsidiary, JV or associate of such companies 

1.4.2019 1. Listed NBFC 

2. other NBFC having net worth of Rs.250 crore or more 

3. holding, subsidiary, JV or associate of such companies 

14.2020 Insurance companies 

Note:  

•Companies listed on SME exchange not required to apply Ind AS.  

•Once Ind AS are applicable, an entity shall be required to follow the Ind AS for all the subsequent 

financial statements.  

•Companies not covered by the above roadmap shall continue to apply existing Accounting Standards 

notified in Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 

•Voluntary adoption of Ind AS is not allowed to NBFC 

 

Net worth 

1. Share Capital 

2. Share Premium 

3. Reserves created out of profits after deducting accumulated losses, deferred expenditure 

and miscellaneous expenditure not written off 

4. Does not include revaluation reserve 

5. As per audited balance sheet 

6. Standalone financial statements shall be evaluated as on 31.3.2014 or first audited balance 

sheet available after that date. 

 

1. Company X, on standalone basis, had a net worth of above Rs. 250 crore but below Rs. 

500 crore in financial year 2013-14 as well as financial year 2014-15 and is expected 

to exceed Rs. 500 crore in financial year 2015-16. Whether the Company X be 

required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2017-18. 

Answer: Rule 4(2) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states asunder: 

―For the purposes of calculation of net worth of companies under sub-rule (1), the 
followingprinciples shall apply, namely:- 
(a) the net worth shall be calculated in accordance with the stand-alonefinancial statements of the 
company as on 31st March, 2014 or the firstaudited financial statements for accounting period 
which ends after thatdate; 
(b) for companies which are not in existence on 31st March, 2014 or anexisting company falling 
under any of thresholds specified in sub-rule (1)for the first time after 31st March, 2014, the net 
worth shall be calculatedon the basis of the first audited financial statements ending after that 
datein respect of which it meets the thresholds specified in sub-rule (1). 
Explanation.- For the purposes of sub-clause (b), the companies meeting the specified thresholds 
given in sub-rule (1) for the first time at the end of an accounting year shall applyIndian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) from the immediate next accounting year in themanner specified in 
sub-rule (1)‖. 
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In view of the requirement at (b) above, any company that meets the thresholds as specifiedin the 

Rules in a particular financial year, The Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)Rules, 2015, will 

become applicable to such company in immediately next financial year.Therefore, in the given case, 

company X which had net worth of above Rs. 250 crore butbelow Rs. 500 crore in financial year 

2013-14 as well as financial year 2014-15 and isexpected to exceed Rs. 500 crore in financial year 

2015-16, will have to prepare financialstatements on the basis of Indian Accounting Standards ( 

Ind AS), from the financial yearbeginning on April 1, 2016 

2. Company A is a listed company and has three Subsidiaries Company X, Company Y and 

Company Z. As on 31st March 2014, the net worth of Company A is Rs 600 Crores, 

networth of Company X is Rs 100 Crores, Company Y is Rs 400 Crores and Company Z 

is Rs. 210 Crores. All the three subsidiaries are non-listed public companies.  

Case A During the financial year 2014-15, Company A has sold off its entire investment in 

Company X on 31st December 2014. Therefore, Company X is no longer a subsidiary of 

Company A for the purposes of preparation of financial statements as on 31 March 2015. 

Should Company X prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2006 or the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015? 

Case B During the financial year 2015-16, Company A has sold off its investment in Company 

Y on 31st December, 2015. Therefore, Company Y is no longer a subsidiary of Company A for 

the purposes of preparation of financial statements as on 31 March 2016. Should Company Y 

prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 or 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015? 

Case C During the financial year 2016-17, Company A has sold off its investment in Company 

Z on 31st December 2016, therefore company Z is no longer a subsidiary of Company A for 

the purposes of preparation of financial statements as on 31 March 2017. 

Should Company Z prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2006 or the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015? 

Answer:  

Rule 4(1)(ii)(c) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015,states as under: 

(4) (1) The Companies and their auditors shall comply with the Indian AccountingStandards (Ind 
AS) specified in Annexure to these rules in preparation of theirfinancial statements and audit 
respectively, in the following manner, namely:- 
(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian AccountingStandards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1stApril, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March,2016, or thereafter, namely:- 
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in theprocess of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more; 
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of sub-rule(1) and having net 
worth of rupees five hundred crore ormore; 
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies ofcompanies covered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) andsub-clause (b) of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be;Rule 

4(2) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under: 
(2) For the purposes of calculation of net worth of companies under sub-rule (1), thefollowing 
principles shall apply, namely:- 
(a) the net worth shall be calculated in accordance with the stand-alonefinancial statements of the 
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company as on 31st March, 2014 or the firstaudited financial statements for accounting period 
which ends after thatdate; 
(b) for companies which are not in existence on 31st March, 2014 or anexisting company falling 
under any of thresholds specified in sub-rule (1)for the first time after 31st March, 2014, the net 
worth shall be calculatedon the basis of the first audited financial statements ending after that 
datein respect of which it meets the thresholds specified in sub-rule (1). 
Explanation.- For the purposes of sub-clause (b), the companies meeting the specifiedthresholds 
given in sub-rule (1) for the first time at the end of an accounting yearshall apply Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) from the immediate nextaccounting year in the manner specified in 
sub-rule (1). 
Rule (9) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states that: 

―Once a company starts following the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) eithervoluntarily or 
mandatorily on the basis of criteria specified in sub-rule (1), it shall berequired to follow the 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for all the subsequent financialstatements even if any of 
the criteria specified in this rule does not subsequently apply to it‖. 
In view of the above requirements, Company A meets the criteria as specified in the Rule4(2) (a) of 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, on 31st March, 2014.Accordingly, the 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, will becomeapplicable to the Company on 

mandatory basis from accounting periods commencing 1stApril, 2016. 

As per the Rule 4(1)(ii)(c) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 , aholding, 

subsidiary, joint venture or associate company of a Company to which theCompanies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 applies will be required to follow theCompanies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 for preparing and presenting itsfinancial statements.In the 

abovementioned case, Company A has net worth of more than Rs.500 crore in thefinancial year 

ending 31 March 2014. Therefore, ordinarily Company A along with itssubsidiaries will have to apply 

Indian Accounting Standards (Ind ASs) for preparing financialstatements for the accounting 

periods commencing 1st April, 2016, except in situationscovered by Case A and Case B as discussed 

below. 

Case A 

Company A has sold off its entire investment in Company X on 31st December, 2014; Company X is 

no longer a subsidiary of Company A as at the beginning of 1st April, 2016.Therefore, in this case, 

Company X would continue to prepare financial statements for theaccounting periods commencing 

1st April, 2016, as per the Companies (AccountingStandards) Rules, 2006. 

Case B 

Company A has sold its investment in subsidiary Company Y on 31st December, 2015, inconsequence 

of which Company Y is no longer subsidiary of Company A as at the beginningof 1st April, 2016. 

Therefore, the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 willnot be applicable to 

Company Y. Therefore, Company Y would continue to prepare financialstatements for accounting 

periods commencing April 1, 2016 under the Companies(Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006. 

Case C 

In the given case, Company A has sold its investment in subsidiary Company Z on 31stDecember, 

2016; therefore, Company Z was a subsidiary of Company A as at the beginningof 1st April, 2016. 

Company Z being subsidiary of Company A as at the beginning of 1stApril, 2016, would have to 

prepare financial statements for the accounting periodscommencing 1st April, 2016 as per the 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,2015. 
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3. Company X Ltd. and Company Y Ltd. registered in India having net worth of Rs 600 

crores and 100 crores respectively are subsidiaries of a Foreign Company viz., ABC 

Inc., which has net worth of more than Rs. 500 crores in financial year 2015-16. 

Whether Company X Ltd. and Y Ltd. are required to comply with Ind AS from financial 

year 2016-17 on the basis of net worth of the parent Foreign Company or on the basis 

of their own net worth?  

Answer: Rule 4(1)(ii)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as 

under:  

―The Companies and their auditors shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
specified in Annexure to these rules in preparation of their financial statements and audit 
respectively, in the following manner, namely:-  
(i) any company may comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for financial 
statements for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2015, with the comparatives for 
the periods ending on 31st March, 2015, or thereafter;  
(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:-  
 

(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more;‖  
As per Rule 4(1)(ii)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, Company X 

having net worth of Rs.600 crores in the year 2015-16, would be required to prepare its financial 

statements for the accounting periods commencing from 1st April, 2016, as per the Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015.  

Company Y Ltd. having net worth of Rs.100 crores in the year 2015-16, would be required to 

prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006.  

Since, the Foreign company ABC Inc., is not a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 2013 

or the earlier Companies Act, 1956, it is not required to prepare its financial statements as per the 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015.As the foreign company is not required to 

prepare financial statements based on Ind AS, the net worth of foreign company ABC would not be 

the basis for deciding whether Indian Subsidiary Company X Ltd. and Company Y Ltd. are required 

to prepare financial statements based on Ind AS.  

4. Company X Ltd. has prepared its financial statements under IFRS for the first time 

for year ended March 31, 2016. It had adopted its date of transition to IFRS as 

April 1, 2014. As per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, 

Company X Ltd. is mandatorily required to prepare its financial statements as per Ind 

AS for the year ended March 31, 2017 and hence under Ind AS, the date of 

transition would be April 1, 2015.  

Whether Company X Ltd. can select date of transition under Ind AS as April 1, 2014 instead 

of April 1, 2015 since it has already carried out exercise of transition on April 1, 2014 for 

the purposes of IFRS.  

Answer: Appendix A to Ind AS 101, First- time Adoption of Indian Accounting Standards, defines 

date of transition as follows:  

―The beginning of the earliest period for which an entity presents full comparative information 
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under Ind ASs in first Ind AS financial statements‖  

The definition of date of transition as stated above therefore permits an entity to select its date 

of transition. However, Rule 4(1)(i) and (ii) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 

2015, states as under:  

―The Companies and their auditors shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
specified in Annexure to these rules in preparation of their financial statements and audit 
respectively, in the following manner, namely:-  
(i) any company may comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for financial 
statements for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2015, with the comparatives for 
the periods ending on 31st March, 2015, or thereafter;  
 

(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely…‖.  
 

As per the above rule, the date of transition for X Ltd. will be April 1, 2015 being the beginning of 

the earliest comparative period presented. To explain it further, X Ltd. is required to mandatorily 

adopt Ind AS from April 1, 2016, i.e for the period 2016-17, and it will give comparatives as per Ind 

AS for 2015-16. Accordingly, the beginning of the comparative period will be April 1, 2015 which 

will be considered as the date of transition as per Ind AS.  

Although Company X Ltd. has already carried out exercise of transition on April 1, 2014 for the 

purposes of IFRS, Company X Ltd. cannot select date of transition under Ind AS as April 1, 2014. 

5. Company A is a Core Investment Company (CIC) having net worth of more than 500 

crore as on March 31, 2014. During the year 2014-15, the Reserve Bank of India 

(RBI) had exempted Company A from certain regulations/directions governing CIC in 

India. 

Whether Company A (exempted CIC) will be regarded as Non-Banking Financial Company 

(NBFC) for the purpose of applicability of Ind AS?  

Answer 

Rule 2(g) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, read with Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) (Amendment) Rules, 2016, states as follows:  

―(g) ―Non-banking Financial Company‖ means a Non-Banking Financial Company as defined in clause 

(f) of section 45-I of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and includes Housing Finance Companies, 

Merchant Banking Companies, Micro Finance Companies, Mutual Benefit Companies, Venture Capital 

Fund Companies, Stock Broker or Sub-broker Companies, Nidhi Companies and Chit Companies, 

Securitisation and Reconstruction Companies, Mortgage Guarantee Companies, Pension Fund 

Companies, Asset Management Companies and Core Investment Companies.‖  

It may be noted from above, that core investment companies are specifically included in the 

definition of NBFC. Accordingly, exempted CIC will be regarded as ‗NBFC‘ for the purpose of 

roadmap for implementation of Ind AS irrespective of the fact that RBI may have given some 

exemptions to certain class of core investment companies from its regulations.  

Further, as per rule 4 of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, read with the 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) (Amendment) Rules, 2016, NBFCs having net worth of 

more than 500 crore shall comply with Ind AS for accounting periods beginning on or after the 1st 

April, 2018, with comparatives for the periods ending on 31st March, 2018.  
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In view of the above, in the given case, Company A will be required to apply Ind AS from the 

financial year 2018-19. It may further be noted that it cannot voluntarily adopt Ind AS before 1st 

April 2018. 

6. Company B Ltd. is an associate company of Company A Ltd. Company X Ltd. is the 

holding company of Company A Ltd. Company X Ltd. has decided to adopt Ind AS 

voluntarily from 2015-16.  

Whether Company A Ltd. and Company B Ltd. are statutorily required to comply with Ind AS 

from financial year 2015-16?  

Answer 

As per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, read with the Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) (Amendment) Rules, 2016, dated 30th March, 2016, any company and its 

holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate company may comply with the Indian Accounting 

Standards (Ind AS) for financial statements for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 

2015, with the comparatives for the periods ending on 31st March, 2015, or thereafter.  

Since, Company X Ltd. has adopted Ind AS voluntarily from financial year 2015-16, Company A Ltd. 

being subsidiary of Company X Ltd. shall comply with Ind AS from the financial year 2015-16 as per 

the roadmap.  

As per paragraph 3 of Ind AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, an associate is an 

entity over which the investor has significant influence.  

Ind AS 28 defines ‗Significant influence‘ as the power to participate in the financial and operating 

policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.  

Paragraph 5 of Ind AS 28, states as follows:―If an entity holds, directly or indirectly (eg through 
subsidiaries), 20 per cent or more of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the 
entity has significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. 
Conversely, if the entity holds, directly or indirectly (eg through subsidiaries), less than 20 per 
cent of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity does not have significant 
influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated. A substantial or majority ownership 
by another investor does not necessarily preclude an entity from having significant influence.‖  
In the given case, Company B Ltd. is a direct associate company of Company A Ltd. but not of 

Company X Ltd. However, Company X Ltd, through its subsidiary (i.e., Company B Ltd.), has 

significant influence over Company B Ltd., indirectly.  

In view of the above requirements, Company B Ltd. shall also comply with Ind AS from the financial 

year 2015-16.  

In other words, if a parent company voluntarily or mandatorily adopts Ind AS then its holding, 

subsidiary, joint venture or associate company whether through direct or indirect association shall 

comply Ind AS from the financial year in which the parent company starts complying with Ind AS. 

7. Company A Ltd. has invested 26% in Company B Ltd. and accounted Company B as an 

associate under Companies (Accounting Standards) Rule, 2006. Company A Ltd. is 

required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17.  

Company C Ltd. owns share warrants that are convertible into equity shares of Company B 

Ltd. that have potential, if exercised, to give additional voting power to Company C Ltd. over 

the financial and operating policies of Company B Ltd. As per the requirements of Ind AS 28, 

it has been concluded that Company B Ltd. is an associate company of Company C Ltd.  

Company A concluded that it has no more significant influence over Company B Ltd under Ind 

AS.  
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The above assessments have been done as on April 1, 2015.  

However, Company A Ltd. reported Company B Ltd. as an associate company as on March 31, 

2016 for statutory reporting requirements under previous GAAP.  

Company B Ltd. and Company C Ltd. as a standalone entity do not meet any criteria given in 

Ind AS roadmap. Whether Company B is required to comply with Ind AS?  

Answer 

Sub-rule (2) of Rule 2 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, provides as 

follows: 

―Words and expressions used herein and not defined in these rules but defined in the Act shall 

have the same meaning respectively assigned to them in the Act‖  

The term ‗associate‘ has been defined in Ind AS 28 which is notified as the part of the Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015.  

As per paragraph 3 of Ind AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, an associate is an 

entity over which the investor has significant influence.  

Ind AS 28 defines ‗Significant influence‘ as the power to participate in the financial and operating 

policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.  

Paragraph 5 of Ind AS 28, states as follows:  

―5 If an entity holds, directly or indirectly (eg through subsidiaries), 20 per cent or more of the 
voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity has significant influence, unless it can 
be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. Conversely, if the entity holds, directly or 
indirectly (eg through subsidiaries), less than 20 per cent of the voting power of the investee, it is 
presumed that the entity does not have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly 
demonstrated. A substantial or majority ownership by another investor does not necessarily 
preclude an entity from having significant influence.‖  
Paragraph 7 of Ind AS 28 provide as follows:  

―7 An entity may own share warrants, share call options, debt or equity instruments that are 
convertible into ordinary shares, or other similar instruments that have the potential, if exercised 
or converted, to give the entity additional voting power or to reduce another party‘s voting power 
over the financial and operating policies of another entity (ie potential voting rights). The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, 
including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether an 
entity has significant influence. Potential voting rights are not currently exercisable or convertible 
when, for example, they cannot be exercised or converted until a future date or until the 
occurrence of a future event.‖  
As per Notification G.S.R 680(E) dated 4th September, 2015 issued by Ministry of Corporate 

Affairs (MCA), after rule 4 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, the following rule has been 

inserted:  

―4A Forms and items contained in financial statements – The financial statements shall be in the 
form specified in Schedule III to the Act and comply with Accounting Standards or Indian 
Accounting Standards as applicable:  
Provided that the items contained in the financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with 
the definitions and other requirements specified in the Accounting Standards or the Indian 
Accounting Standards, as the case may be.‖ 
In view of above requirements, consistent approach would be to consider the definitions given in 

Ind AS both for the purpose of preparing financial statements and determining the relationship 
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with another entity (i.e. subsidiary, associate, joint venture etc.) for the purpose of applicability of 

Ind AS.  

In the present case, by applying the relevant requirements of Ind AS 28, it has been concluded 

that Company B Ltd. is an associate company of Company C Ltd. since Company C Ltd. has potential 

voting rights over Company B Ltd.  

In the given scenario, in accordance with Ind AS, Company B Ltd. also ceases to be an associate of 

Company A Ltd. Therefore, Company B Ltd. need not to comply with Ind AS from the financial year 

2016-17 though the company was an associate company of Company A Ltd. under previous reporting 

framework.  

If Company C Ltd. voluntarily complies with Ind AS or meets any specified criteria on standalone 

basis, then Company B Ltd. being its associate company as per Ind AS 28 shall comply Ind AS from 

the same financial year from which Company C Ltd. starts preparing financial statements as per Ind 

AS. 

8. Company X, on a standalone basis, has a net worth of above Rs. 500 crore and hence 

required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17. Company Y (listed 

entity), on a standalone basis, has net worth of above INR 250 crore but below Rs. 

500 crore and therefore required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2017-18.  

Company X acquires shares of Company Y resulting in Company Y becoming an associate of 

Company X on October 31, 2016, but before approval of the results for the quarter ended 

September 2016.  

Whether Company Y will be required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17 or it 

will comply from financial year 2017-18? If the response is that compliance is from the 

financial year 2016-17, would the financial results of Company Y for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2016 be prepared in accordance with Ind AS?  

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(ii) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under:  

(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:-  
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more;(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and 
having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or more;  
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be; 
and‖.  
In accordance with the above, it may be noted that holding, subsidiary, joint venture, associate 

companies of companies falling under any of the thresholds specified in Rule 4(1)(ii) are required to 

comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17 or 2017-18, as the case may be.  

In the given case, Company X is required to adopt Ind AS from financial year 2016-17, since net 

worth of Company X is more than INR 500 crore. Company X has acquired shares of Company Y 

resulting in Company Y becoming an associate of Company X during the financial year 2016-17. 

Accordingly, Company Y will prepare Ind AS financial statements for the year ending March 31, 

2017.  

As far as the quarterly results are concerned, since, Company Y has become an associate as on 
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October 31, 2016, Company Y will prepare Ind AS financial statements from the quarter ending 

December 2016 onwards. 

9. Company X (Listed entity) has a net worth of above INR 500 crore and hence required 

to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17. Company Y (Unlisted entity), on a 

standalone basis, has net worth below INR 250 crore and hence it is not required to 

comply with Ind AS. Company Y acquires shares of Company X during financial year 

2016-17, whereby Company Y becomes the holding company of Company X.  

Whether Company Y will be required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17, 

given that it has now become a holding company of Company X during FY 2016-17?  

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(ii) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under:  

(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:-  
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more;  
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and having 
net worth of rupees five hundred crore or more; 
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be; 
and‖.  
In accordance with the above, it may be noted that holding, subsidiary, joint venture, associate 

companies of companies falling under any of threshold specified Rule 4(1)(ii) are required to comply 

with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17 or 2017-18, as the case may be.  

In the given case, Company X is required to adopt Ind AS from financial year 2016-17,since net 

worth of Company X is more than INR 500 crore. Company Y has acquired shares of Company X 

resulting in Company Y becoming holding company of Company X during the financial year 2016-17. 

Accordingly, Company Y will prepare Ind AS financial statements for the year ending March 31, 

2017. 

10. As on March 31, 2014, Company A is a listed company and has a net worth of 50 

crore. As on March 31, 2015, the company is no more a listed company. Whether 

Company A is required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2017-18.  

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(iii) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under:  

―(iii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2017, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2017, or thereafter, namely:-  
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of less than rupees five hundred 
crore;  
(b) companies other than those covered in clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) and subclause (a) of clause (iii) 
of sub-rule (1), that is, unlisted companies having net worth of rupees two hundred and fifty crore 
or more but less than rupees five hundred crore.  
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered under sub-clause 
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(a) of clause (iii) of sub- rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (iii) of sub- rule (1), as the case may 
be‖.  
Further, Rule 4(2) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under:  

―(2) For the purposes of calculation of net worth of companies under sub-rule (1), the following 
principles shall apply, namely:- 
(a) the net worth shall be calculated in accordance with the stand-alone financial statements of the 
company as on 31st March, 2014 or the first audited financial statements for accounting period 
which ends after that date;  
(b) for companies which are not in existence on 31st March, 2014 or an existing company falling 
under any of thresholds specified in sub-rule (1) for the first time after 31st March, 2014, the net 
worth shall be calculated on the basis of the first audited financial statements ending after that 
date in respect of which it meets the thresholds specified in sub-rule (1).  
Explanation.- For the purposes of sub-clause (b), the companies meeting the specified thresholds 
given in sub-rule (1) for the first time at the end of an accounting year shall apply Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) from the immediate next accounting year in the manner specified 
in sub-rule (1).‖  
In view of the above requirements, it may be noted that immediately before the mandatory 

applicability date, if the threshold criteria for a company are not met, then it shall not be required 

to comply with Ind AS, irrespective of the fact that as on March 31, 2014, the criteria was met.  

In the given case, before the mandatory applicable date (i.e 2017-18), Company A ceases to be a 

listed company. Accordingly, it will not be required to apply Ind AS from FY 2017-18. 

11. Will the following companies with negative net worth need to comply with Ind 

AS? 

(a) Company A (listed) having negative net worth of Rs. 600 crore. 

(b) Company B (unlisted) having negative net worth of Rs. 300 crore. 

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(ii) and Rule 4(1)(iii) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, stateas 

follows: 

(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (IndAS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with thecomparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:- 
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the processof being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and havingnet worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more; 
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of subrule(1) and having net 
worth of rupees five hundred crore or more; 
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companiescovered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and sub-clause (b)of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be; and‖. 
(iii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (IndAS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2017, with thecomparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2017, or thereafter, namely:- 
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the processof being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and havingnet worth of less than rupees five hundred 
crore; 
(b) companies other than those covered in clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) and subclause(a) of clause (iii) 
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of sub-rule (1), that is, unlisted companies havingnet worth of rupees two hundred and fifty crore 
or more but less thanrupees five hundred crore. 
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companiescovered under sub-clause 
(a) of clause (iii) of sub- rule (1) and sub-clause(b) of clause (iii) of sub- rule (1), as the case may 
be: 
As per Rule 2(1)(f) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, ―net worth‖ shallhave 

the meaning assigned to it in clause (57) of section 2 of the Act. 

Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 2013, defines ‗net worth‘ as follows: 

―net worth‖ means the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reservescreated out of 
the profits and securities premium account, after deducting the aggregatevalue of the accumulated 
losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure notwritten off, as per the audited 
balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out ofrevaluation of assets, write-back of 
depreciation and amalgamation; 
In accordance with above provisions, it is clear that Ind AS will be applicable to companies 

(bothlisted and unlisted) from financial year 2016-17, if net worth is Rs. 500 crore or more. 

Therefore,if the net worth of the listed or unlisted company is negative, then Ind AS will not be 

applicablefrom F.Y. 2016-17. Accordingly, Ind AS will not be applicable to Company A (listed) 

andCompany B (unlisted) from F.Y. 2016-17. 

However, as per the roadmap, Ind AS will be applicable from financial year 2017-18 to all 

listedcompanies having net worth less Rs. 500 crore and unlisted companies having net worth Rs. 

250 croreor more but less than rupees 500 core. Accordingly, Ind AS will be applicable to 

CompanyA (listed) from F.Y. 2017-18, whereas Ind AS will not be applicable to Company B 

(unlisted)unless net worth criteria being met by Company B subsequently or Ind AS becoming 

applicableas part of the Group (e.g. holding of Company B is covered under Ind AS) or Company 

Bvoluntarily decides to apply Ind AS 

12. A company covered under Phase I, having net worth of Rs. 600 crores, decides 

to givecomparatives for F.Y. 2015-16 and F.Y. 2014-15. What should be date of 

transition in thiscase? 

Answer 

Appendix A to Ind AS 101, First- time Adoption of Indian Accounting Standards, defines date 

oftransition as follows: 

―The beginning of the earliest period for which an entity presents full comparativeinformation 
under Ind ASs in first Ind AS financial statements‖ 
The definition of the date of transition as stated above therefore permits an entity to select 

itsdate of transition. However, Rule 4(1)(i) and (ii) of the Companies (Indian AccountingStandards) 

Rules, 2015, state as under: 

―The Companies and their auditors shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards(Ind AS) 
specified in Annexure to these rules in preparation of their financial statementsand audit 
respectively, in the following manner, namely:- 
(i) any company may comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) forfinancial statements 
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2015,with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2015, or thereafter; 
(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (IndAS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with thecomparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter,namely…‖. 
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In the given case, the Company is required to mandatorily adopt Ind AS from April 1, 2016, i.e.,for 

the period 2016-17, and with comparatives as per Ind AS for 2015-16. Accordingly, thebeginning of 

the comparative period will be April 1, 2015, which will be considered as the dateof transition as 

per Ind AS. Therefore, the date of transition to Ind AS shall be April 1, 2015. Thecompany cannot 

have the date of transition at April 1, 2014. 

13. ABC Ltd. is a listed company. The net worth of ABC Ltd. as on 31st March 2014 was 

Rs. 200 crores.  

ABC Ltd. had a subsidiary, namely, XYZ Ltd. as at 31st March, 2015 whose net worth, 

consisting only of share capital as at that date, was Rs. 600 crores. XYZ Ltd. was 

incorporated in January, 2015. It was incorporated only for the purposes of its divestment. 

The financial statements of XYZ Ltd. were not consolidated with that of ABC Ltd. as at 31st 

March, 2015 in view of requirements of Paragraph 11 of Accounting Standard (AS) 21, 

Consolidated Financial Statements.  
ABC Ltd. entered into agreement with a proposed acquirer of the subsidiary, i.e., PQR Ltd., 

in September, 2015. The entire ownership of XYZ Ltd. was finally transferred to the said 

acquirer in the first fortnight of April, 2016. 

In the given case, whether the ABC Ltd. is required to comply with Ind AS from the financial 

year 2016-17?  

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(ii) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under:  

―...... (ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for 
the accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:-  
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more;  
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and having 
net worth of rupees five hundred crore or more;  
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be; 
and‖.  
In accordance with the above, it may be noted that holding, subsidiary, joint venture, associate 

companies of companies falling under any of threshold specified Rule 4(1)(ii) are required to comply 

with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17.  

Further, Rule 4(2)(b) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under:  

―(2) For the purposes of calculation of net worth of companies under sub-rule (1), the following 
principles shall apply, namely:-  
(b) for companies which are not in existence on 31st March, 2014 or an existing company falling 
under any of thresholds specified in sub-rule (1) for the first time after 31st March, 2014, the net 
worth shall be calculated on the basis of the first audited financial statements ending after that 
date in respect of which it meets the thresholds specified in sub-rule (1). 
Explanation- For the purposes of sub-clause (b), the companies meeting the specified 
thresholds given in sub-rule (1) for the first time at the end of an accounting year shall apply 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) from the immediate next accounting year in the manner 
specified in sub-rule (1).  
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On a combined reading of Rule 4(1) and (2) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 

2015, if an existing company meets the net worth criteria before mandatory applicability dates laid 

down in the roadmap, the company would be required to follow Ind AS as per the dates for 

implementation of Ind AS prescribed in the roadmap, i.e., 2016-17 or 2017-18, as the case may be.  

In the given case, Ind AS will be mandatorily applicable to XYZ Ltd. from financial year, 2016-17 

since its net worth as on 31st March, 2015 is more than Rs. 500 crores.  

Consistent approach would be followed to consider the definitions given in Ind AS both for the 

purpose of preparing financial statements and determining the relationship with another entity (i.e. 

subsidiary, associate, joint venture etc.) for the purpose of applicability of Ind AS. Therefore, the 

relationship between ABC Ltd. and XYZ Ltd. should be determined in accordance with Indian 

Accounting Standards (Ind AS). Hence, it is irrelevant to consider the fact that XYZ Ltd. was not 

a subsidiary company of ABC Ltd. as per the previous GAAP.  

In view of the above ITFG clarification, whether ABC Ltd. is a holding company of XYZ Ltd. or not 

shall be determined as per Ind AS 110, Consolidated Financial Statements, i.e., evaluating whether 

ABC Ltd. Controls XYZ Ltd. or not.  

If ABC Ltd. was a holding company of XYZ Ltd. in accordance with Ind AS 110 as at 31st March, 

2015, then ABC Ltd. should comply with Ind AS from the financial year 2016-17, since Ind AS are 

applicable to XYZ Ltd. from financial year 2016-17. 

14. A debt-listed company has net worth for the last 3 years as follows: 

(i) Net worth as on 31.03.2014 is Rs. 1260.83 crores 

(ii) Net worth as on 31.03.2015 is Rs. 1411.43 crores 

(iii) Net worth as on 31.03.2016 is Rs. 485.22 cores 

Whether Company A is required to comply with Ind AS from financial year 2017-18? 

Answer 

Rule 4(1) (ii) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under: 

―(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with thecomparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:- 
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process ofbeing listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having networth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more; 
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of sub-rule(1) and having net 
worth of rupees five hundred crore or more; 
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companiescovered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and sub-clause (b) ofclause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be; and‖. 
Further, Rule 4(2) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, statesas under: 

―(2) For the purposes of calculation of net worth of companies under sub-rule (1), thefollowing 
principles shall apply, namely:- 
(a) the net worth shall be calculated in accordance with the stand-alone financialstatements of the 
company as on 31st March, 2014 or the first audited financialstatements for accounting period 
which ends after that date; 
(b) for companies which are not in existence on 31st March, 2014 or an existingcompany falling 
under any of thresholds specified in sub-rule (1) for the first time after31st March, 2014, the net 
worth shall be calculated on the basis of the first auditedfinancial statements ending after that 
date in respect of which it meets the thresholdsspecified in sub-rule (1). 
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Explanation - For the purposes of sub-clause (b), the companies meeting the specifiedthresholds 
given in sub-rule (1) for the first time at the end of an accounting year shall applyIndian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) from the immediate next accounting year in themanner specified in 
sub-rule (1).‖ 
In view of the above requirements, it may be noted that the net worth shall be calculated 

inaccordance with the stand-alone financial statements of the company as on 31st March, 2014. 

Accordingly, if the net worth threshold criteria for a company are once met, then it shallbe 

required to comply with Ind AS, irrespective of the fact that as on later date its net worthfalls 

below the criteria specified. 

In view of the above, the Company A will be required to follow Ind AS from financial year2016-17. 

It may be noted that Issue 8 of ITFG Clarification Bulletin 3 addressed an issue wherein as 

onMarch 31, 2014 an entity was listed, however subsequently the entity got delisted before 

themandatory applicability date. In the said issue, it was clarified that immediately before 

themandatory applicability date, if the threshold criteria for a company are not met, then itshall 

not be required to comply with Ind AS, irrespective of the fact that as on March 31,2014, the 

criteria was met. In this regard, it may be clarified the above guidance was relatedto only listing 

criteria and the same is not related to net worth criteria 

15. Company X Ltd. is being covered under Phase I of Ind AS and needs to apply 

Ind AS from financial year 2016-17. Company Y which is an associate company of 

Company X Ltd. is a charitable organisation and registered under section 8 of the 

Companies Act, 2013.Whether Company Y is required to comply with Ind AS from 

financial year 2016-17? 

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(ii) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states as under: 

(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives forthe periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely (a) companies whose equity or debt securities 
are listed or are in the process of beinglisted on any stock exchange in India or outside India and 
having net worth of rupees fivehundred crore or more; 
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) andhaving net 
worth of rupees five hundred crore or more; 
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered bysub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub-rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (ii) of sub- rule(1) as the case may be; and‖. 
In accordance with the above, it may be noted that holding, subsidiary, joint venture,associate 

companies of companies falling under any of the thresholds specified in Rule4(1)(ii) are required to 

comply with Ind AS from financial year 2016-17. 

Further, it may be noted that the companies covered under Section 8 are required to complythe 

provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, unless and until any exemption is provided.Section 8 

companies are not exempted from the requirements of section 133 and section 129of the 

Companies Act, 2013.In view of the above, in the given case, Company Y will be required to apply 

Ind AS fromfinancial year 2016-17. 

16. Company X is falling under Phase II of MCA roadmap for companies and hence 

Ind AS are applicable to it from the financial year 2017-18. Company X is a 

subsidiary of Company Y. Company Y is an unlisted NBFC company having net worth of 

Rs. 285 crores. What will be the date of applicability of Ind AS for company X and 
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company Y? If Ind AS applicability date for parent NBFC is different from the 

applicability date ofcorporate subsidiary, then, how will the consolidated financial 

statements of parentNBFC be prepared? 

Answer 

Rule 4(1)(iv)(b) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 read withCompanies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) (Amendment) Rules, 2016 states as under: 

― ....(b) The following NBFCs shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
foraccounting periods beginning on or after the 1st April, 2019, with comparatives for theperiods 
ending on 31st March, 2019, or thereafter- 
(A) NBFCs whose equity or debt securities are listed or in the process of listing onany stock 
exchanges in India or outside India and having net worth less thanrupees five hundred crore; 
(B) NBFCs, that are unlisted companies, having net worth of rupees two-hundredand fifty crore or 
more but less than rupees five hundred crore; and 
(C) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies coveredunder item (A) or 
item (B) of sub-clause (b), other than those already covered inclauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of sub-rule (1) 
or item (B) of sub-clause (a) of clause(iv).‖ 
In accordance with the above, it may be noted that NBFCs having net worth of less than500 crore 

shall apply Ind AS from 1.4.2019 onwards. Further, the holding, subsidiary,joint venture or 

associate company of such an NBFC other than those covered bycorporate roadmap shall also apply 

Ind AS from 1.4.2019. 

Further, explanation to clause (iv), states as under: 

―Explanation. – For the purposes of clause (iv), if in a group of Companies, someentities apply 
Accounting Standards specified in the Annexure to the Companies(Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2006 and others apply accounting standards as specifiedin the Annexure to these rules, in such 
cases, for the purpose of individual financialstatements, the entities should apply respective 
standards applicable to them. Forpreparation of consolidated financial statements, the following 
conditions are to befollowed, namely:- 
(i) where an NBFC is a parent (at ultimate level or at intermediate level), and preparesconsolidated 
financial statements as per Accounting Standards specified in theAnnexure to the Companies 
(Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, and itssubsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, if covered 
by clause (i), (ii) and (iii) ofsub-rule (1) has to provide the relevant financial statement data in 
accordance withthe accounting policies followed by the parent company for consolidation 
purposes(until the NBFC is covered under clause (iv) of sub-rule (1); 
(ii) where a parent is a company covered under clause (i), (ii) and (iii) of sub-rule (1)and has an NBFC 
subsidiary, associate or a joint venture, the parent has to prepareInd AS- compliant consolidated 
financial statements and the NBFC subsidiary,associate or a joint venture has to provide the 
relevant financial statement data inaccordance with the accounting policies followed by the parent 
company forconsolidation purposes (until the NBFC is covered under clause (iv) of sub-rule(1).‖ 
Accordingly, in the given case, Company Y (NBFC) shall apply Ind AS from 1.4.2019.Company X shall 

apply Ind AS in its individual financial statements from financial year2017-18 (as per the corporate 

roadmap) and for the financial year 2017-18 and 2018-19,Company X shall also prepare its individual 

financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 to facilitate the 

preparation of consolidated financialstatement by parent Company Y (NBFC). 

17. A company received grant from government which is in the nature of promoter‟s 

contribution and the same was included in capital reserve. This grant has beenaccounted as 
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per AS 12, Accounting for Government Grants. Is such capital reserverequired to be included 
for computation of net worth to assess Ind AS applicability? 

Answer 

As per Rule 2(1)(f) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 ―net worth‖shall have 

the meaning assigned to it in clause (57) of section 2 of the Act.Section 2(57) of Companies Act, 

2013, defines ‗net worth‘ as follows:―net worth‖ means the aggregate value of the paid-up share 
capital and all reservescreated out of the profits and securities premium account, after deducting 
the aggregatevalue of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure 
notwritten off, as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out 
ofrevaluation of assets, write-back of depreciation and amalgamation; 
From the definition of Section 2(57), it may be noted that all reserves created out of theprofits 

are included in calculation of ‗net worth‘.In the given case, the capital reserve has arisen pursuant 

to grant received from government.which is in the nature of promoter‘s contribution. On a literal 

interpretation of the definition,it may be concluded that capital reserve in the nature of 

promoter‘s contribution should notbe included to calculate net worth as the same is not explicitly 

mentioned in the definition ofnet worth. However, in substance, the capital reserve in the nature 

of promoter‘s contributionis a capital contribution by promoters and should be included in the 

calculation of net worth.Further, Accounting Standard (AS) 12 also states that government grants 

in the nature ofpromoter‘s contribution are recognised in shareholders‘ funds. Therefore, such a 

capitalreserve should be included for computation of ‗net worth‘.However, it may be noted that 

capital reserve in the nature of promoter‘s contribution shouldbe included in the net worth only for 

the purpose of Ind AS applicability. This definitionshould not be applied by analogy for determining 

net worth under other provisions of theCompanies Act, 2013. 

18. Whether ESOP reserve is required to be included while computing net worth ofa 

company to assess applicability of Ind AS on the company? 

Response: As per Rule 2(1)(f) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015,―net worth‖ 

shall have the meaning assigned to it as in clause (57) of section 2 of the Act.Further, as per 

Section 2(57) of the Companies Act, 2013, ―net worth means the aggregatevalue of the paid-up 
share capital and all reserves created out of the profits and securitiespremium account, after 
deducting the aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferredexpenditure and miscellaneous 
expenditure not written off, as per the audited balance sheet,but does not include reserves 
created out of revaluation of assets, write-back of depreciationand amalgamation.‖ 
It may be noted that the Guidance Note on Accounting for Employee Share-based Payments,inter 
alia, provides that an enterprise should recognise as an expense (except where servicereceived 
qualifies to be included as a part of the cost of an asset) the services received in anequity-settled 
employee share-based payment plan when it receives the services, with acorresponding credit to an 
appropriate equity account, say, ‗Stock Options OutstandingAccount‘. This account is transitional in 
nature as it gets ultimately transferred to anotherequity account such as share capital, securities 
premium account and/or general reserve asrecommended in the subsequent paragraphs of this 
Guidance Note.In accordance with the above, ESOP reserve is required to be included while 

calculating thenet worth of a company. 

However, this clarification is only for the purpose of Ind AS applicability and should not beapplied 

by analogy for determining net worth under other provisions of the Companies Act,2013. 

19. A Ltd. is a first-time adopter of Ind AS. It had incorporated a partnership 

firm with B Ltd. namely, M/s A&B Associates. Whether Ind AS will be applicable to 
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M/s A & B Associates by virtue of the fact that Ind AS is applicable to A Ltd? 

Also clarify, whether Ind AS will be applicable to non-corporate entities? 

Answer: The applicability of Ind AS has been specified for classes of companies specifiedin Rule 4 

of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015. Indian AccountingStandards notified 

under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, areapplicable for the corporates 

only. Non- corporates are required to follow the accountingstandards issued by the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of India.. They cannot be appliedby non-corporate entities even voluntarily. 

However, in case, a relevant regulator specifically provides for implementation of Ind AS, thenon-

corporate entities shall apply Ind AS, for example, SEBI has mandated implementationof Ind AS 

for Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvITs) and Real Estate Investment Trusts(REITs). 

Similarly, if Central Government notifies certain body corporate under clause(1)(4)(f) of Companies 

Act, 2013, such entities will be required to apply Ind AS. For othernon-company entities, 

Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI shall be applicable and therewill be no option to follow 

Ind AS to such entities. 

Accordingly, in the given case, Ind AS is not applicable to partnership firms. However, forthe 

purpose of consolidation, the partnership firm will be required to provide financial statements data 

prepared as per Ind AS to A Ltd provided the partnership qualifies as asubsidiary/joint 

venture/associate of A Ltd. 

20. ABC & Company incorporated in US with limited liability, has established a 

branch office in India, with the permission of the Reserve Bank of India (RBI), to 

provide consultancy services in India. The branch office remits the amounts earned by 

guidelines. As on April 1, 2016, it has more than 500 crore balance as “Head office 

account”. Whether the India branch office of ABC Co. will be required to comply with 

Ind AS? 

Answer: As per the roadmap issued by the MCA, ―company‖ as defined in clause (20) ofsection 2 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 is required to comply with Ind AS. Section 2(20) of theAct defines 

company as follows: 

―company‖ means a company incorporated under this Act or under any previouscompany law; 

The branch office of a foreign company established in India is not incorporated under the Act. It 

is only an establishment of a foreign company in India. The Branch office is just anextension of the 

foreign company in India. 

Further, as per Rule 6 of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, 

―Indiancompany which is a subsidiary, associate, joint venture and other similar entities of a 

foreigncompany shall prepare its financial statements in accordance with the Indian 

AccountingStandards (Ind AS) if it meets the criteria as specified in sub-rule (1).‖ 

In accordance with the above, it may be noted that Branch office of a foreign company is 

notcovered under rule 6 as mentioned above. Accordingly, in the given case, the branch office 

ofABC& Co. is not required to comply with Ind AS. 

21. Company A holds 100% shareholding of Company B. Company B holds 100% 

shareholding of Company C since 1 April 2000. Pursuant to a court scheme, to be filed 

in February 2018, Entity C will merge with Entity B during the financial year 2018-19 

(i.e. the scheme is expected to be approved during the financial year 2018-2019). All 

companies (A, B and C) are covered under Phase II of Ind AS and will prepare 

financial statements for year ending 31 March 2018 as per Ind AS. 

In case the appointed date in the scheme is 1 April 2016, would it have any impact on the 
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certificate to be issued by the auditors on compliance of the scheme with Ind AS 103? 

Would the response be different in case the transferor and transferee entities are not under 

common control? 

Answer: Paragraph 8 and 9 of Ind AS 103, Business Combinations states as follows: 

―Determining the acquisition date 

8 The acquirer shall identify the acquisition date, which is the date on which it obtainscontrol of 

the acquiree. 

The date on which the acquirer obtains control of the acquiree is generally the date on whichthe 

acquirer legally transfers the consideration, acquires the assets and assumes the date that is 

either earlier or later than the closing date. For example, the acquisition dateprecedes the closing 

date if a written agreement provides that the acquirer obtains control ofthe acquiree on a date 

before the closing date. An acquirer shall consider all pertinent factsand circumstances in 

identifying the acquisition date.‖ 

Ind AS 103, Business Combinations, prescribes significantly different accounting forbusiness 

combinations which are not under common control and those under commoncontrol. Hence, it is 

pertinent to note that entity is required to assess whether the businesscombination is under 

common control or not. 

Business Combination is under common controlParagraph 8 and 9 of Appendix C to Ind AS 103, 

Business Combinations states as follows: 

―8 Business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control shall beaccounted 

for using the pooling of interests method. 

9 The pooling of interest method is considered to involve the following: 

(i) The assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carryingamounts. 

(ii) No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognise any new assets orliabilities. The 

only adjustments that are made are to harmonise accounting policies. 

(iii) The financial information in the financial statements in respect of prior periodsactual date of 

the combination. However, if business combination had occurredafter that date, the prior period 

information shall be restated only from that date.(Emphasis added)‖ 

In accordance with paragraph 9(iii) above, the entity will be required to restate its 

financialstatements as if the business combination had occurred from the beginning of the 

precedingperiod in the financial statements. 

In cases where the auditor is of the view that as per the proposed accounting treatment, thedate 

from which the amalgamation is effected in the books of accounts of the amalgamatedcompany is 

different from the acquisition date as per the Standard i.e. the date on whichcontrol has been 

actually transferred, then the auditor shall state the same in the certificate asrequired to be 

issued as per the proviso to Section 232 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013. If theNCLT approves the 

scheme with a different appointed date as compared to the acquisitiondate as per Ind AS 103, the 

appointed date as approved by the NCLT under the scheme willbe the acquisition date. In this 

situation, the company should provide appropriate disclosuresand the auditor should consider the 

requirements of relevant auditing standards. 

Business Combination is not under common control 

For business combinations other than under common control the date of acquisition is thedate from 

which the acquirer obtains control of the acquiree. 

In cases where the auditor is of the view that as per the proposed accounting treatment, thedate 

from which the amalgamation is effected in the books of accounts of the amalgamatedcompany is 
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different from the acquisition date as per the standard i.e., the date on whichcontrol has been 

actually transferred, then the auditor shall state the same in the certificate asrequired to be 

issued as per the proviso to Section 232 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

However, if the NCLT approves the scheme with a different appointed date as compared tothe 

acquisition date as per Ind AS 103, the appointed date as approved by NCLT under thescheme will 

be the acquisition date. In this situation, the company should provide appropriatedisclosures and 

the auditor should consider the requirements of relevant auditing standards. 

22. A Company ABC Ltd. performs role of NBFC and has applied for the registration 

as NBFC which is awaited from the Reserve Bank of India (RBI). Whether roadmap for 

the applicability of Ind AS as applicable to NBFCs also applies to the Company ABC 

Ltd., which performs role of NBFC however, it is not registered withthe RBI? 

Answer: Rule 4(1)(iii) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) (Amendments)Rules, 2016 

lays down the roadmap for the applicability of Ind AS to NBFCs. As per the saidrules, ―Non-

Banking Financial Company‖ means a Non-Banking Financial Company asdefined in clause (f) of 

section 45-I of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and includesHousing Finance Companies, 

Merchant Banking companies, Micro Finance Companies,Mutual Benefit Companies, Venture Capital 

Fund Companies, Stock Broker or Sub-BrokerCompanies, Nidhi Companies, Chit Companies, 

Securitisation and ReconstructionCompanies, Mortgage Guarantee Companies, Pension Fund 

Companies, Asset ManagementCompanies and Core Investment Companies.‖ 

In view of the above, it is pertinent to note that the above definition covers a company whichis 

carrying on the activity of Non Banking Financial Company. The definition of NBFC isgiven under 

the RBI Act, 1934. Hence the company which is carrying on the activity ofNBFC but not registered 

with RBI will also be subject to the roadmap for the applicability ofInd AS as applicable to any 

other NBFC. However, the requirements with regard toregistration, eligibility of a company to 

operate as NBFC (pending registration) etc. aregoverned by the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 

and Rules laid down thereon and should beevaluated by the entity based on its own facts and 

circumstances separately. 

23. XYZ Limited is a company having net worth less than INR 250 crores as on 31 March 

2017. What is the status of applicability of Ind AS for the company in the following 

scenarios:  

(a) the company was in the process of listing as at the beginning of the year (i.e. 1st April 

2017) and the company ultimately gets listed as at the end of the year (March 2018);  

(b) the company is listed at the beginning of the year and during the year it gets de-listed;  

(c) the process of listing began during the year, for e.g. in the month of May 2017 and the 

company ultimately gets listed as at the end of the year i.e. March 2018. Will there be any 

difference if the company gets listed in April, 2018. i.e. it was in process of listing as at the 

year end.  

(d) the company issued listed debentures in the month of May 2017. However, in the month 

of January 2018, the debentures got de-listed.  

Answer  

Rule 4 (1) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 read with Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) (Amendment) Rules, 2016 inter-alia states as follows:  

―(i)...  
(ii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
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accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2016, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2016, or thereafter, namely:-  
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 
more;  
(b) companies other than those covered by sub-clause (a) of clause (ii) of subrule (1) and having net 
worth of rupees five hundred crore or more;  
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered by sub-clause (a) 
of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) as the case may be; and  
(iii) the following companies shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for the 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2017, with the comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2017, or thereafter, namely:-  
(a) companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 
stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of less than rupees five hundred 
crore;  
(b) companies other than those covered in clause (ii) of sub- rule (1) and sub-clause (a) of clause 
(iii) of sub-rule (1), that is, unlisted companies having net worth of rupees two hundred and fifty 
crore or more but less than rupees five hundred crore.  
(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered under sub-clause 
(a) of clause (iii) of sub- rule (1) and sub-clause (b) of clause (iii) of sub- rule (1), as the case may 
be:‖  
(a) In the given case, since the company began the process of listing as at the beginning of the year 

but had net worth less than INR 250 crores, it shall be required to comply with Ind AS from the 

financial year 2017-18. Accordingly, XYZ Limited shall prepare Ind AS financial statements for the 

financial year 2017-18. 

(b) In the given case, since the company is listed at the beginning of the year it shall be required to 

comply with Ind AS from the same year irrespective of the fact that the company gets de-listed 

as at the end of the year. Accordingly, XYZ Limited shall prepare Ind AS financial statements for 

the financial year 2017-18.  

(c) In the given case, although the company was neither listed as at the beginning of the period nor 

it began the process of listing as at the beginning of the year, but it began the process of listing 

during the year and ultimately got listed as at the end of the year then it shall be required to 

comply with Ind AS from the same year in which it began the process of listing. Furthermore, in 

case the company gets listed during the year say from November 2017, then it will be required to 

provide Ind AS financial statements for the quarter ending December 2017 and consequently for 

the year ending March 2018.  

Moreover, in the given fact pattern, if the company was in the process as at the year-end, then 

also it will be required to comply with Ind AS and provide financial statements as per Ind AS for 

the year ending March 2018.  

(d) In the given case, as at the beginning of the reporting period, the company was not listed. 

However, it issued listed debentures during the year, i.e., in the month of May 2017 which got de-

listed in the month of January 2018. Accordingly, the company has neither the status of a listed 

entity/or in the process of listing at the beginning of the year as well nor at the end of the year. 

Hence, it will not be required to comply with Ind AS. 

24. The Company is a registered stock-broker recognised by the Securities and Exchange 
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Board of India (SEBI). The net worth of the Company as on 31st March 2015 is INR 

500 crores. As per the Ind AS Rules, it falls under the definition of NBFC roadmap 

and accordingly, is required to apply Ind AS from 1st April 2018 onwards.  

In the month of July 2016, the company applied for terminating its membership to the 

exchange. It was awaiting clearance from SEBI as of June 2017. It received clearance from 

the Board in the month of August 2017 accepting their termination. The company also have 

debt listed securities.  

Whether the company should have prepared Ind AS financial statements as a Phase 1 non-

NBFC corporate entity as of 31 March 2017 given it has applied for termination of 

membership with the exchange in the month of July 2016?  

Response: Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) (Amendments) Rules, 2016, defines NBFC as 

follows:  

―Non-Banking Financial Company‖ means a Non-Banking Financial Company as defined in clause (f) of 
section 45-I of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and includes Housing Finance Companies, 
Merchant Banking companies, Micro Finance Companies, Mutual Benefit Companies, Venture Capital 
Fund Companies, Stock  
Broker or Sub-Broker Companies, Nidhi Companies, Chit Companies, Securitisation and 
Reconstruction Companies, Mortgage Guarantee Companies, Pension Fund Companies, Asset 
Management Companies and Core Investment Companies.‖  
Further Rule 4(1) (iv) of the said rules lays down the roadmap for applicability of Ind AS as 

follows:  

―Notwithstanding the requirement of clause (i) to (iii), Non-Banking Financial Companies (NBFCs) 
shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) in preparation of their financial 
statements and audit respectively, in the following manner, namely :-  
(a) The following NBFCs shall company with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for 
accounting periods beginning on or after the 1st April, 2018, with comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st March, 2018, or thereafter-  
(A) NBFCs having net worth of rupees five hundred crores or more;  
(B) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered under item (A), 
other than those already covered under clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of sub-rule (1) of rule 4.  
(b) The following NBFCs shall comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) for 
accounting periods beginning on or after the 1st April, 2019, with comparatives for the periods 
ending on 31st march, 2019, or thereafter-  
(A) NBFCs whose equity or debt securities are listed or in the process of listing on any stock 
exchanges in India or outside India and having net worth less than rupees five hundred crore;  
(B) NBFCs, that are unlisted companies, having net worth of rupees two-hundred and fifty crore or 
more but less than rupees five hundred crore; and  
(C) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered under item (A) 
or item (B) of sub-clause (b), other than those already covered in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of sub-rule 
(1) or item (B) of sub-clause (a) of clause (iv).‖  
In the given case, the company being a stock-broker was falling under the definition of NBFC as 

per the above rules and hence as per its net worth was required to comply with Ind AS from 1st 

April, 2018 onwards.  

However, in the given case, in July 2016 the company had applied for termination of its membership 

as a stock-broker. Accordingly, it needs to be evaluated that whether the company is carrying on 
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the activities of an NBFC or not.  

It is also pertinent to note the following clarification issued: 

In view of the above, it is pertinent to note that the above definition covers a company which is 
carrying on the activity of Non-Banking Financial Company. The definition of NBFC is given under 
the RBI Act, 1934. Hence the company which is carrying on the activity of NBFC but not 
registered with RBI will also be subject to the roadmap for the applicability of Ind AS as 
applicable to any other NBFC. However, the requirements with regard to registration, eligibility 
of a company to operate as NBFC (pending registration) etc. are governed by the Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934 and Rules laid down thereon and should be evaluated by the entity based on its own 
facts and circumstances separately.  
In accordance with the above, if the company was carrying on the activities of an NBFC during the 

period it was awaiting approval from RBI, then it shall be required to comply with Ind AS as per 

the roadmap applicable to NBFC. However, if it ceases to carry on the activities of NBFC then the 

roadmap as applicable to non- NBFC companies should have been followed based on its net worth.  

In the given case, assuming that the company was not carrying on the activities of NBFC from July 

16 onwards as it has applied for termination of its membership in July 2016, then as per its net 

worth it should have complied with Ind AS from July 2016 onwards. 

25. Company B is a listed entity covered in phase II of Ind AS roadmap. Company A is an 

unlisted entity having net worth less than INR 250 crores and holding Company of 

Company B. Company D is an unlisted entity and holds 25% in company B (i.e, Company 

D is an investor company of Company B)and has net worth less than INR 250 crores. 

Company C is a fellow subsidiary of company B i.e. subsidiary of the holding company 

A. Whether Ind AS is applicable to Company C and Company D?  

Answer 

As per the roadmap for applicability of Ind AS, holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate 

companies of companies which meet the specified criteria are required to comply with the Indian 

Accounting Standards (Ind AS).  

In the given case, since Company B meets the criteria for Ind AS adoption, its holding company 

would also be required to adopt Ind AS from the same date. Accordingly, Ind AS will be applicable 

to Company A by virtue of Ind AS being applicable to its subsidiary i.e. Company B in the given case.  

With regard to Ind AS applicability for company C, it may be noted that Ind AS applies to holding, 

subsidiary, joint venture and associate companies of the companies which meet the net 

worth/listing criteria. This requirement does not extend to another fellow subsidiary of a holding 

company which is required to adopt Ind AS because of its holding company relationship with a 

subsidiary meeting the net worth/listing criteria. Holding company will be required to prepare 

separate and consolidated financial statements mandatorily under Ind AS, if one of its subsidiaries 

meets the specified criteria and therefore, such subsidiaries may be required by the holding 

company to furnish financial statements as per Ind AS for the purpose of preparing Holding 

company‘s consolidated Ind AS financial statements. Such fellow subsidiaries may, however, 

voluntarily opt to prepare their financial statements as per Ind AS.  

Hence, in the given case, Company C is not mandatorily required to adopt Ind AS for its statutory 

reporting. Further, company C may apply Ind AS voluntarily for its statutory reporting.  

With regard to Ind AS applicability for Company D, it may be noted that Company D is just an 

investor company and does not qualify as a holding company of Company B. Company D is not 

required to comply with Ind AS by virtue of Company B falling under the threshold of Ind AS 
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applicability (unless it otherwise falls under the road map for applicability of Ind AS, as a 

consequence of other conditions specified therein). Furthermore, for consolidation purposes, 

Company B will be required to provide financial statement data prepared in accordance with 

Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 for the purpose of preparation of consolidated 

financial statements of Company D as per these rules. 

 

 

DIVISION II OF THE SCHEDULE III TO THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013  

Points which merits consideration 

• All companies that prepare, either voluntarily or mandatorily, Financial Statements in compliance 

with the Companies Ind AS Rules, should consider Ind AS Schedule III as well as this Guidance Note.  

• The requirements of Ind AS Schedule III however, do not apply to companies as referred to in the 

proviso to Section 129(1) of the Act, i.e., any insurance or banking company, or any company engaged 

in the generation or supply of electricity or to any other class of company for which a form of 

Balance Sheet and Statement of Profit and Loss has been specified in or under any other Act 

governing such class of company. Moreover, the requirements of Ind AS Schedule III do not apply to 

Non-Banking Finance Companies (NBFCs) that adopt Ind AS. 

•It may, however, be clarified that for companies engaged in the generation and supply of electricity, 

neither the Electricity Act, 2003, nor the rules framed thereunder, prescribe any specific format 

for presentation of Financial Statements by an electricity company. Section 1(4) of the Act states 

that the Act will apply to electricity companies, to the extent it is not inconsistent with the 

provisions of the Electricity Act. Keeping this in view, Ind AS Schedule III as applicable may be 

followed by such companies till the time any other format is prescribed by the relevant statute.  

• Listed entities shall follow guidelines issued by SEBI by way of circulars prescribing formats for 

publishing financial results (quarterly, half yearly and annual) which is guided by the relevant 

provisions of the Ind AS and Ind AS Schedule III and may make suitable modifications, as applicable 

 

Conflict of requirements of Ind AS and Schedule III  

It further mentions that disclosure requirements specified in Schedule III would be in addition to 

and not in substitution of the disclosure requirements specified in Ind AS.  

It clarifies that in situations where an accounting treatment or disclosure in an Ind AS is in conflict 

with the requirements of Schedule III, companies are required to comply with the relevant Ind AS. 

26. Companies which have chosen for voluntary adoption of Ind AS from the financial year 

2015-16 do not have clear format that should be used for the preparation of financial 

statements. In the absence of any specific format, whether a company may apply Ind 

AS based Schedule III (i.e. the Division II of Schedule III notified by MCA)?  

Answer 

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, by notification dated April 6, 2016, amended Schedule III by 

incorporating Division-II for preparation of financial statements as per Ind AS with effect from 

the date of publication in the Official Gazette i.e. April 6, 2016. It may be noted that as on March 

31, 2016, there was no specific Schedule prescribed under the Companies Act 2013, for companies 

voluntarily adopting Ind AS from financial year 2015-16. However, it may further be noted that 

there is no prohibition in amended Schedule III incorporating Division II for its early or voluntary 

adoption.  

In view of the above, a company voluntarily adopting Ind AS from financial year 2015-16 may use 
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the format specified in Division II of Revised Schedule III (which is in compliance with Ind AS 

notified as Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015) for the preparation of financial 

statements as per Ind AS for financial year 2015-16, as going forward also the same format shall 

be applied. 

 

 

IFRS Name Ind AS 

IFRS 1 First time adoption of IFRS Ind AS 101 

IFRS 2 Share Based Payments Ind AS 102 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations Ind AS 103 

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts Ind AS 104 

IFRS 5 Noncurrent assets held for sale and discontinued operations Ind AS 105 

IFRS 6 Exploration and evaluation of mineral resources Ind AS 106 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure Ind AS 107 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments Ind AS 108 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Ind AS 109 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Ind AS 110 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Ind AS 111 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities Ind AS 112 

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement Ind AS 113 

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts Ind AS 114 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 11 & 18 

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements Ind AS 1 

IAS 2 Inventories Ind AS 2 

IAS 7 Statement of cash flows Ind AS 7 

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, change in accounting estimates and errors Ind AS 8 

IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period Ind AS 10 

IAS 12 Income Taxes Ind AS 12 

IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment Ind AS 16 

IAS 17 Leases Ind AS 17 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits Ind AS 19 

IAS 20 Accounting for government grants Ind AS 20 

IAS 21 Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates Ind AS 21 

IAS 23 Borrowing cost Ind AS 23 

IAS 24 Related party disclosures Ind AS 24 

IAS 27 Separate Financial statements Ind AS 27 

IAS 28 Investment in associates and joint ventures Ind AS 28 

IAS 29 Financial reporting in hyper inflationary economy Ind AS 29 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation Ind AS 32 

IAS 33 Earnings Per share Ind AS 33 

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting Ind AS 34 

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets Ind AS 36 

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets Ind AS 37 

IAS 38 Intangible Assets Ind AS 38 
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IAS 40 Investment Property Ind AS 40 

IAS 41 Agriculture Ind AS 41 

IFRIC 1 Changes in existing decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities Ind AS 16 

IFRIC 2 Members share in cooperative entities and similar instruments  

IFRIC 4 Determining whether as arrangement contains a Lease Ind AS 17 

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, restoration and 

environmental restoration economies 

Ind AS 37 

IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market waste 

electrical and electronic equipment 

Ind AS 37 

IFRIC 7 Applying restatement approach under IAS 29 Ind AS 29 

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment Ind AS 34 

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangement Ind AS 115 

IFRIC 14 IAS 19: The limit on defined benefit asset, minimum funding 

requirements and their interaction 

Ind AS 19 

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation Ind AS 109 

IFRIC 17 Distribution of non-cash assets to owners Ind AS 10 

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments  

IFRIC 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine Ind AS 16 

IFRIC 21 Levies Ind AS 37 

SIC 7 introduction of Euro  

SIC 10 Government assistance no specific relation to operating activities Ind AS 20 

SIC 15 Operating leases – Incentives Ind AS 17 

SIC 25 Income taxes – Change in tax status of an entity or shareholders Ind AS 12 

SIC 27 Evaluating the substance of transactions Involving the legal form of a 

lease 

Ind AS 17 

SIC 29 Service Concession arrangements: Disclosures Ind AS 115 

SIC 32 Intangible assets – Website costs Ind AS 38 

 
 

 

 

Company A is a listed company and has three Subsidiaries Company X, Company Y and 

Company Z. As on 31st March 2014, the net worth of Company A is `600 crore, net worth of 

Company X is `100 crore, Company Y is `400 crore and Company Z is `210 crore. All the 

three subsidiaries are non-listed public companies. Comment in case of following three 

situation: 

A. During the financial year 2014-15, Company A has sold off its entire investment in 

Company X on 31st December 2014. Therefore, Company X is no longer a subsidiary of 

Company A for the purposes of preparation of financial statements as on 31st March 

2015. 

Should Company X prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2006 or the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015? 

B. During the financial year 2015-16, Company A has sold off its investment in Company 

Y on 31st December, 2015. Therefore, Company Y is no longer a subsidiary of 
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Company A for the purposes of preparation of financial statements as on 31 March 

2016.  

Should Company Y prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2006 or the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015? 

C. During the financial year 2016-17, Company A has sold off its investment in Company 

Z on 31st December 2016, therefore company Z is no longer a subsidiary of Company A 

for the purposes of preparation of financial statements as on 31st March 2017.  

Should Company Z prepare its financial statements as per the Companies (Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2006 or the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015? 

Answer 

The Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states thatthefollowing companies shall 

comply with Ind AS for the accounting periods beginning on or after 1stApril, 2016, with the 

comparatives for the periods ending on31stMarch, 2016, or thereafter, namely: 

(a)companies whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the process of being listed on any 

stock exchange in India or outside India and having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or 

more;  

(b) companies other than those covered by point(a)above and having net worth of rupees five 

hundred crore or more; 

(c) holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate companies of companies covered by point 

(a) and (b) as the case may be;  

Further,the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, states that for the purposes of 

calculation of net worth of companies, the following principles shall apply, namely: 

(a) the net worth shall be calculated in accordance with the stand-alone financial statements of the 

company as on 31stMarch, 2014 orthe first audited financial statements for accounting period 

which ends after that date;  

(b) for companies which are not in existence on 31stMarch, 2014 or an existing company falling 

under any of thresholds specified for the first time after 31stMarch, 2014, the net worth shall be 

calculated on the basis of the first audited financial statements ending after that date in respect 

of which it meets the thresholds specified. 

The companies meeting the specified thresholds for the first time at the end of an accounting 

year shall apply Ind AS from the immediate next accounting year in the manner specified above.  

Oncea company starts following Ind AS either voluntarily or mandatorily on the basis of criteria 

specified, it shall be required to follow Ind AS for all the subsequent financial statements even if 

any of the criteria specified in the rule does not subsequently apply to it.  

In view of the above requirements, Company A meets the criteria as specified the Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, on 31stMarch, 2014. 

Accordingly, the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, will become applicable to 

the Company on mandatory basis from accounting periods commencing 1stApril, 2016. 

A holding, subsidiary, joint venture or associate company of a Company to which the Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 applies will be required to follow the Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 for preparing and presenting its financial statements. 

In the abovementioned case, Company A has net worth of more than `500 crore in the financial 

year ending 31stMarch 2014. Therefore, ordinarily Company A along with its subsidiaries will have 

to apply Indian Accounting Standards (Ind ASs) for preparing financial statements for the 

accounting periods commencing 1stApril, 2016, except in situations covered by Case A and Case B as 
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discussed below. 

A. Company A has sold off its entire investment in Company X on 31stDecember, 2014; Company 

X is no longer a subsidiary of Company A as at the beginning of 1stApril, 2016. Therefore, in 

this case, Company X would continue to prepare financial statements for the accounting 

periods commencing 1stApril, 2016, as per theCompanies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006.  

B. Company A has sold its investment in subsidiary Company Y on 31stDecember, 2015, in 

consequence of which Company Y is no longer subsidiary of Company A as at the beginning of 

1stApril, 2016. Therefore, the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 will not 

be applicable to Company Y. Therefore, Company Y would continue to prepare financial 

statements for accounting periods commencing April 1, 2016 under the Companies 

(Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006.  

C. Company A has sold its investment in subsidiary Company Z on 31stDecember, 2016; 

therefore, Company Z was a subsidiary of Company A as at the beginning of 1stApril, 2016. 

Company Z being subsidiary of Company A as at the beginning of 1stApril, 2016, would have 

to prepare financial statements for the accounting periods commencing 1stApril, 2016 as per 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 1 

Presentation of Financial 

Statements 
 

Objective 

1. basis for presentation of general purpose financial statements to ensure comparability both 

with the entity‘s financial statements of previous periods and with the financial statements of 

other entities 

2. overall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, guidelines for their 

structure and minimum requirements for their content. 

 

Scope 

1. An entity shall apply this Standard in preparing and presenting general purpose financial 

statements in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards 

2. This Standard does not apply to the structure and content of condensed interim financial 

statements prepared in accordance with Ind AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. 

 

 

General Purpose Financial Statements 

those intended to meet the needs of users who are not in a position to require an entity to prepare 

reports tailored to their particular information needs. 
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Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the balance sheet 

(including statement of changes in equity which is a part of the balance sheet), 

statement of profit and loss and statement of cash flows. Notes provide 

narrative descriptions or disaggregation‘s of items presented in those 

statements and information about items that do not qualify for recognition in 

those statements 
Other 

comprehensive 

income 

comprises items of income and expense (including reclassification adjustments) 

that are not recognized in profit or loss as required or permitted by other Ind 

ASs. The components of other comprehensive income include 

a. changes in revaluation surplus (see Ind AS 16 Property, Plant and 

Equipment and Ind AS 38) Intangible Assets); 

b. actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans recognized in 

accordance with paragraph 92 and 129A of Ind AS 19 Employee Benefits; 

c. gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a 

foreign operation (see Ind AS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates); 

d. gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets (see 

Ind AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement); 

e. the effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash 

flow hedge (see Ind AS 39). 
Profit or loss is the total of income less expenses, excluding the components of other 

comprehensive income 
balance sheet as at the end of the period (including statement of changes in equity which is 

presented as a part of the balance sheet); 
statement of cash flows for the period 

Opening 

balance sheet 

a balance sheet as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period when an 

entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 

restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items 

in its financial statements 

 

Example on OCI 

Gainsrealised on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets are included in profit or loss of 

the current period. These amounts may have been recognised in other comprehensive income as 

unrealised gains in thecurrent or previous periods. Those unrealised gains must be deductedfrom 

other comprehensive income in the period in which the realised gains are reclassified to profit or 

loss to avoid including them in totalcomprehensive income twice 

 

Presentation of True and Fair View 

Financial statements shall present a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance 

and cash flows of anentity. Requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, 

other events andconditions in accordance with the definitions and recognitioncriteria for assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses set out in theFramework. 
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An entity cannot rectify inappropriate accounting policies either by disclosure of the accounting 

policies used or by notes orexplanatory material 

1. An entity prepares its financial statements that contain an explicit and unreserved 

statement of compliance with Ind AS. However, the auditor‟s report on those financial 

statements contains a qualification because of disagreement on application of one 

Accounting Standard. In such case, is it acceptable for the entity to make an explicit 

and unreserved statement of compliance with Ind AS? 

Solution 

Yes, it is possible for an entity to make an unreserved and explicit statement of compliance with 

Ind AS, even though the auditor‘s report contains a qualification because of disagreement on 

application of Accounting Standard(s), as the preparation of financial statements is the 

prerogative of the management. In case the management has a bonafide reason to believe that it 

has complied with all Ind AS, it can make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with 

Ind AS 

 

 
 

Going concern An entity shall prepare financial statements on a going concernbasis unless 

management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has 

no realistic alternative but to do so.  

An entity whose financial statements comply with Ind ASs 

shall make an explicit and unreserved statement of such 
compliance in the notes

An entity shall not describe financial statements as complying with 
Ind ASs unless they comply with all the requirements of Ind ASs

When an entity 
departs from a 
requirement of 

an Ind AS in 
accordance 

with paragraph 
19, it shall 

disclose

•that management has concluded that the financial statements present a 
true and fair view of the entity‘s financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows

•that it has complied with applicable Ind ASs, except that it has departed 
from a particular requirement to present a true and fair view

•the title of the Ind AS from which the entity has departed, the nature of 
the departure, including the treatment that the Ind AS would require, the 
reason why that treatment would be so misleading in the circumstances that 
it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in the 
Framework, and the treatment adopted

•for each period presented, the financial effect of the departure on each 
item in the financial statements that would have been reported in complying 
with the requirement
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Whenmanagement is aware, in making its assessment, of materialuncertainties 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the 

entity‘s ability to continue as a goingconcern, the entity shall disclose those 

uncertainties.  

When anentity does not prepare financial statements on a going concernbasis, 

it shall disclose that fact, together with the basis on which itprepared the 

financial statements and the reason why the entity isnot regarded as a going 

concern 

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate,management 

takes into account all available information about the future,which is at least, 

but is not limited to, twelve months from the end ofthe reporting period 

Accrual basis of 

accounting 

An entity shall prepare its financial statements, except forcash flow 

information, using the accrual basis of accounting 

Materiality and 

aggregation 

An entity shall present separately each material class of similar items. An 

entity shall present separately items of a dissimilarnature or function unless 

they are immaterial except when requiredby law 

Offsetting An entity shall not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless 

required or permitted by an Ind AS 

Frequency of 

reporting 

An entity shall present a complete set of financial statements (including 

comparative information) at least annually. When an entitychanges the end of 

its reporting period and presents financialstatements for a period longer or 

shorter than one year, an entityshall disclose, in addition to the period 

covered by the financialstatements 

(a) the reason for using a longer or shorter period, and 

(b) the fact that amounts presented in the financial statements are not 

entirely comparable 

Comparative 

information 

Except when Ind ASs permit or require otherwise, an entityshall disclose 

comparative information in respect of the previous period for all 

amounts reported in the current period‘s financialstatements. An entity shall 

include comparative information for narrative and descriptive information 

when it is relevant to anunderstanding of the current period‘s financial 

statements 

When the entity changes the presentation or classification ofitems in its 

financial statements, the entity shall reclassifycomparative amounts unless 

reclassification is impracticable When the entity reclassifies comparative 

amounts, the entity shalldisclose: 

(a) the nature of the reclassification; 

(b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and 

(c) the reason for the reclassification 

Consistency of 

presentation 

An entity shall retain the presentation and classification ofitems in the 

financial statements from one period to the next unless: 

(a) it is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the 

entity‘s operations or a review of its financial statements, that 

another presentation or classification would be more appropriate 
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having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of 

accounting policies in Ind AS 8; or 

(b) an Ind AS requires a change in presentation 

 

 

 

Example on materiality 

1. Entity A has done a misclassification of assets between 2 categories of plant and machinery. 

Such a misclassification would not be material in amount if it affected two categories of plant or 

equipment however it might be material if it changed the classification between a noncurrent and a 

current asset category.  

2. Losses from bad debts or pilferage that could be shrugged off as routine by a large business 

may threaten the continued existence of a small one. 

3. An error in inventory valuation may be material in a small enterprise for which it cut earnings in 

half but immaterial in an enterprise for which it might make a barely perceptible ripple in the 

earnings 

Example on frequency of reporting 

In 20X8 entity ‗Superb‘was acquired by entity ‗Happy go lucky‘. To align its reporting date with that 

of its parent. Superb changed the end of its annual reporting period from 31 January to 31 March. 

Consequently, entity Superb‘s reporting period for the year ended 31 March 20X8 is 14 months. On 

the basis of those facts, the following disclosure is appropriate.  

Extract from the notes to entity Superb‟s 31 March 20X8 financial statements:  

Note 1  

Basis of preparation and accounting policies 

Reporting period 

In 20X8, to align the entity‘s reporting period with that of its parent (Happy Go Luck), the entity 

changed the end of its reporting period from 31 January to 31 March. Amounts presented for the 

20X8 reporting period are for a 14-month period. Comparative figures are for a 14-month period. 

Consequently, comparative amounts for the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 

changes in equity, statement of cash flows and related notes are not entirely comparable. 

 

 

1. Entity XYZ is a large manufacturer of plastic products for the local market. On 1 April 

20X6 the newly elected government unexpectedly abolished all import tariffs, including 

the 40 per cent tariff on all imported plastic products. Many other economic reforms 

implemented by the new government contributed to the value of the country‟s currency 

(CU(2)) appreciating significantly against most other currencies. The currency 

appreciation severely reduced the competitiveness of the entity‟s products.  

Before 20X6 entity XYZ was profitable. However, because it was unable to compete with low 

priced imports, entity XYZ reported a loss of CU 4 ,000 for the year ended 31 March 

20X7. At 31 March 20X7, entity XYZ‟s equity was CU 1,000. Management restructured 

entity B‟s operations in the second quarter of 20X7. That restructuring helped reduce losses 

for the third and fourth quarters to CU 4 00 and CU 3 80, respectively.  

In January 20X7 the local plastic industry and labour union lobbied government to reinstate 

tariffs on plastic.  
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On 15 March 20X7, the government announced that it would reintroduce limited Plastic import 

tariffs in 20X8. However, it emphasised that those tariffs would not be as protective as the 

tariffs enacted by the previous government. In its latest economic forecast, the government 

predicts a stable currency exchange rate in the short term with a gradual weakening of the 

jurisdiction‟s currency in the longer term. Management of entity XYZ undertook a going 

concern assessment at 31 March 20X7. Management projects/forecasts that imposition of a 

10 per cent tariff on the import of plastic products would, at current exchange rates, result 

in entity XYZ returning to profitability.  

How should the management of entity XYZ disclose the information about the going concern 

assessment in entity XYZ‟s 31 March 20X7 annual financial statements?  

Solution 

Going concern is a general feature of Presentation of Financial Statements. As per Ind AS 1, when 

preparing financial statements, management shall make an assessment of an entity‘s ability to 

continue as a going concern. An entity shall prepare financial statements on a going concernbasis 

unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material 

uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the entity‘s 

ability to continue as a going concern, the entity shall disclose those uncertainties. An entity is 

required to disclose the facts, if the financial statements are not prepared on a going concern 

basis. Along with the reason, as to why the financial statements are not prepared on a going 

concern basis.  

While assessing the going concern assumption, an entity is required to take into consideration all 

factors covering atleast but not limited to 12 months from the end of reporting period. 

On the basis of Ind AS 1 and the facts and circumstances of this case, the following disclosure is 

appropriate:  

Extractsfrom the notes to entity XYZ‘s 31 XYZ 20X7 financial statements 

Note 1: Basis of preparation  

On the basis of management‘s assessment at 31 March 20X7, the financial statements have been 

prepared on the going concern basis. However, management‘s assessment assumes that  

the government will reintroduce limited plastic import tariffs and that the currency exchange rate 

will remain constant. On 15 March 20X7, the government announced that limited import tariffs will 

be imposed in 20X8. However, the government emphasised that the tariff would not be as 

protective as the 40 percent tariff in effect before 20X7. 

Provided that the CU does not strengthen, management projects/forecasts that a 10 percent 

tariff on all plastic products would result in entity XYZ returning to profitability. At 31 March 

20X7 entity XYZ had net assets of CU1,000. If import tariffs are not imposed and currency 

exchange rates remain unchanged, entity XYZ‘s liabilities could exceed its assets by the end of the 

third quarter of 20X8. On the basis of their assessment of these factors, management believes 

that entity XYZ is a going concern 

2. Is offsetting of revenue against expenses, permissible in case of a company acting as 

an agent and having sub-agents, where commission is paid to sub-agents from the 

commission received as an agent? 

Solution 

On the basis of the above, net presentation in the given case would not be appropriate, as it would 

not reflect substance of the transaction and would detract from the ability of users to understand 
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the transaction. The commission received by the company as an agent is the gross revenue of the 

company. The amount of commission paid by it to the sub-agent should be considered as an expense 

and should not be offset against commission earned by it 

3. Omega Ltd. Has a branch office in India since 1994. As of March 2004, it has 

decided to close operations in India. There is no disagreement on the Going Concern 

assumption between the management and the auditor. This is the branch office with 

skeleton operations, there are no significant assets/liabilities. Besides the branch 

operates at rented premises. Reply the following based on Ind AS-1 

o Should the going concern assumption be qualified 

o Will assets/liabilities required to be restated 

4. Partnership firm formed to secure tenders floated by BSNL for publication of 

telephone directories in 1999-2000. It bagged the tender for publishing directory for 

pune circle for 5yrs. if failed to bag publication in other cities. Contract will expire on 

31.12.2004. you are auditing for year 2002-03. Should going concern be hampered? 

What will be your answer for year 2003-04? 

5. Vinayak Chemical Ltd., a Government Company, is engaged in production of fertilizers 

and various nitrogenous chemicals. As per the Company‟s accounting policy, expenses 

incurred upto Rs. 25,000 relating to a future periods are expensed in the current 

year. 

The Statutory Auditors of the Company opines that the Company has not complied with AS-1, 

which prescribes accrual basis of accounting. Does the aforesaid accounting policy of the 

Company violate the provisions of AS-1 

6. A Ltd. has filed an application with the High Court to merge with its subsidiary B 

Ltd. with effect from 1.4.2015. As per the books of accounts, a loan was given by 

A Ltd. to B Ltd. and B Ltd. had given assets to A Ltd. on lease. In view of the 

aforesaid pending application, A Ltd. had neither disclosed the interest income on 

the loan given to B Ltd. nor the lease rentals payable by it to B Ltd. during the 

year 2015-2016. Comment whether the treatment done by A Ltd. is correct in 

light with Ind AS 1 

Since the decision of the High Court was pending till the date of preparation of the financial 

statements, it is not appropriate to assume that the two companies had merged in the said 

financial year. Accordingly, not recognizing the interest income as well as lease rent payable to 

the subsidiary company in the financial statements of 2015-16, although they have become due, 

tantamount to not following the accrual concept with regard to AS 1. This is also contrary to 

the provisions of the section 128(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 which states that the books of 

accounts should be kept on accrual basis and according to the double entry system of 

accounting. Further as per the section, financial statements for every financial year shall give 

true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the company 

 

Identification of the financial statements 

Balance Sheet 

Information to be presented in the balance sheet 

As a minimum, the balance sheet shall include line items that present the following amounts: 

1. property, plant and equipment 
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2. investment property; 

3. intangible assets; 

4. financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (5),and (9)); 

5. investments accounted for using the equity method; 

6. biological assets; 

7. inventories; 

8. trade and other receivables; 

9. cash and cash equivalents; 

10. the total of assets classified as held for sale and assetsincluded in disposal groups classified 

as held for salein accordance with Ind AS 105 Non-current Assets Heldfor Sale and 

Discontinued Operations; 

11. trade and other payables; 

12. provisions 

13. financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (11)and (12)); 

14. liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in IndAS 12 Income Taxes;deferred tax 

liabilities and deferred tax assets, as definedin Ind AS 12; 

15. liabilities included in disposal groups classified as heldfor sale in accordance with Ind AS 105; 

16. non-controlling interests, presented within equity; and 

17. issued capital and reserves attributable to owners ofthe parent. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current/non-current distinction 

 
An entity shall classify all other assets/ liabilities as non-current 

Additional condition for current liability 

 

An entity shall classify an asset/liability as current when

it expects to realise/ settle, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operating cycle

it holds the asset/liability primarily for the purpose of trading

it expects to realise/settle the asset/ liability within twelve months after the reporting period

the asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in Ind AS 7) unless the asset is restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in 

its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification
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When an entity breaches a provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of the 

reporting period with the effectthat the liability becomes payable on demand, it classifies the 

liability as current. However, if the lender agreed, after the reporting period andbefore the approval 

of the financial statements for issue, not to demandpayment as a consequence of the breach, the 

entity shall continue to classify the loan as non-current.  

Example: 

A) An entity produces whisky from barley, water and yeast in a 24-month distillation  

process. At the end of the reporting period the entity has one month‟s supply of barley and 

yeast raw materials, 800 barrels of partly distilled whisky and 200 barrels of distilled 

whisky.  

All raw materials (barley and yeast) work in process (partly distilled whisky) and finished goods 

(distilled whisky) are inventories. The raw materials are expected to be realised (ie turned into 

cash after being processed into whisky) in the entity‘s normal operating cycle. Therefore, even 

though the realisation is expected to take place more than twelve months after the end of the 

reporting period, the raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are current assets.  

 

B) An entity owns a machine with which it manufactures goods for sale. It also owns the 

building in which it carries out its commercial activities.  

The machine and the building are non-current assets—they are not cash or cash equivalents;  

they are not expected to be realised or consumed in the entity‘s normal operating cycle; they are 

not held for the purpose of trading; and they are not expected to be realised within twelve months 

of the end of the reporting period. 

 

C) On 31 December 20x2 an entity replaced a machine in its production line. The replaced  

machine was sold to a competitor for ` 300,000. Payment is due 15 months after the end of 

the reporting period.  

The receivable is a non-current asset—it is not cash or a cash equivalent; it is not expected to be 

realised or consumed in the entity‘s normal operating cycle; it is not held for the purpose of 

trading; and it is not expected to be realised within twelve months of the end of the reporting 

period. 

Note:If payment was due in less than twelve months of the end of the reporting period it would be 

a current asset.  

 

D) On 1 April 20X2 XYZ Ltd invested `15,00,000 surplus funds in corporate bonds that bear 

interest at 8 per cent per year. Interest is payable on the corporate bonds on 1 April 

of each year. The capital is repayable in three annual instalments of `500,000 starting on 31 

March 20X3.  

In its statement of financial position at 31 March 20X3 the entity must present the `1,20,000 

accrued interest and `500,000 current portion of the non-current loan (ie the  

portion repayable on 31 March 20X3) as current assets—they are expected to be realisedwithin 

twelve months of the end of the reporting period. The instalments of `10,00,000 due later than 

twelve months after the end of the reporting period is presented as a non-current asset—it is not 

cash or a cash equivalent; it is not expected to be realised or consumed in the entity‘s normal 

operating cycle; it is not held for the purpose of trading; and it is not expected to be realised 

within twelve months of the end of the reporting period. 
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Example: 

On 1 April 20X3 Charming Ltd issued 100,000 Rs.10 bonds for Rs.1,000,000. On 1 April 

each year interest at the fixed rate of 8 per cent per year is payable on outstanding capital 

amount of the bonds (ie the first payment will be made on 1 April 20X4). On 31 March each year 

(i.e from 31 March 20X4), Charming Ltd has a contractual obligation to redeem 10,000 of the 

bonds at Rs.10 per bond. In its statement of financial position at 31 March 

20X4, Charming Ltd must present Rs 80,000 accrued interest and Rs 100,000 current portion of 

the non-current bond (ie the portion repayable on 31 Mach 20X4) as current liabilities. The 

Rs.900,000 due later than 12 months after the end of the reporting period is presented as a non-

current liability 

 

7. Inventory or trade receivables of X Ltd. are normally realised in 15 months. How 

should X Ltd. classify such inventory/trade receivables: current or non-current if 

these are expected to be realised within 15 months? 

Solution 

These should be classified as current 

8. B Ltd. produces aircrafts. The length of time between first purchasing raw materials 

to make the aircrafts and the date the company completes the production and delivery 

is 9 months. The company receives payment for the aircrafts 7 months after the 

delivery. 

(a) What is the length of operating cycle? 

(b) How should it treat its inventory and debtors? 

Solution 

(a)The length of the operating cycle will be 16 months.  

(b)Assuming the inventory and debtors will be realised within normal operating cycle, i.e., 16 

months, both the inventory as well as debtors should be classified as current 

9. X Ltd provides you the following information: 

Raw material stock holding period :   3 months 

Work-in-progress holding period :   1 month 

Finished goods holding period :    5 months 

Debtors collection period :    5 months 

You are requested to compute the operating cycle of X Ltd. 

Solution 

The operating cycle of X Ltd. will be computed as under:  

Raw material stock holding period + Work-in-progress holding period + Finished goods holding 

period + Debtors collection period = 3 + 1 + 5 + 5 = 14 months 

10. In the above Illustration, what would happen if the trade payables of the 

Company are paid in 12.5 months? Should these be classified as current or non-

current? 

Solution 

Since the operating cycle of X Ltd. is 14 months, trade payables expected to be settled in 12.5 

months. The same should be classified as a current liability 

11. Entity A has two different businesses, real estate and manufacture of passenger 

vehicles. With respect to the real estate business, the entity constructs residential 

apartments for customers and the normal operating cycle is three to four years. With 
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respect to the business of manufacture of passenger vehicles, normal operating cycle is 

15 months. Under such circumstance where an entity has different operating cycles for 

different types of businesses, how classification into current and non-current be 

made? 

Solution 

As per paragraph 66(a) of Ind AS 1, an asset should be classified as current if an entity expects to 

realise the same, or intends to sell or consume it in its normal operating cycle. Similarly, as per 

paragraph 69(a) of Ind AS 1, a liability should be classified as current if an entity expects to 

settle the liability in its normal operating cycle. In this situation, where businesses have different 

operating cycles, classification of asset/liability as current/non- current would be in relation to the 

normal operating cycle that is relevant to that particular asset/liability. It is advisable to disclose 

the normal operating cycles relevant to different types of businesses for better understanding 

12. An entity has placed certain deposits with various parties. How the following 

deposits should be classified, i.e., current or non-current? 

(a) Electricity Deposit 

(b) Tender Deposit/Earnest Money Deposit [EMD]  

(c) Sales Tax/Excise Deposit paid under dispute 

Solution 

(a) At all points of time, the deposit is recoverable on demand, when the connection is not required. 

However, practically, such electric connection is required as long as the entity exists. Hence, from 

a commercial reality perspective, an entity does not expect to realise the asset within twelve 

months from the end of the reporting period. Hence, electricity deposit should be classified as a 

non-current asset. 

(b)Generally, tender deposit/EMD are paid for participation in various bids. They normally become 

recoverable if the entity does not win the bid. Bid dates are known at the time of tendering the 

deposit. But until the date of the actual bid, one is not in a position to know if the entity is winning 

the bid or otherwise. Accordingly, depending on the terms of thedeposit if entity expects to 

realise the deposit within a period of twelve months, it should be classified as current otherwise 

non-current.  

(c)Classification of sales tax/excise deposits paid to the Government authorities in the event of 

any legal dispute, which is under protest would depend on the facts of the case and the expectation 

of the entity to realise the same within a period of twelve months. In the case the entity expects 

these to be realised within 12 months, it should classify such amounts paid as current else these 

should be classified as non-current 

13. Paragraph 69(a) of Ind AS 1 states “An entity shall classify a liability as 

current when it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle”. An entity 

develops tools for customers and this normally takes a period of around 2 years for 

completion. The material is supplied by the customer and hence the entity only renders 

a service. For this, the entity receives payments upfront and credits the amount so 

received to “Income Received in Advance”. How should this “Income Received in 

Advance” be classified, i.e., current or non- current? 

Solution 

Ind AS 1 provides ―Some current liabilities, such as trade payables and some accruals for employee 

and other operating costs, are part of the working capital used in the entity‘s normal operating 

cycle. An entity classifies such operating items as current liabilities even if they are due to be 
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settled more than twelve months after the reporting period.‖ 

In accordance with the above, income received in advance would be classified as current liability 

since it is a part of the working capital, which the entity expects to earn within its normal 

operating cycle. 

14. An entity has taken a loan facility from a bank that is to be repaid within a 

period of 9 months from the end of the reporting period. Prior to the end of the 

reporting period, the entity and the bank enter into an arrangement, whereby the 

existing outstanding loan will, unconditionally, roll into the new facility which expires 

after a period of 5 years. 

(a) How should such loan be classified in the balance sheet of the entity? 

(b) Will the answer be different if the new facility is agreed upon after the end of the 

reporting period? 

(c) Will the answer to (a) be different if the existing facility is from one bank and the new 

facility is from another bank? 

(d) Will the answer to (a) be different if the new facility is not yet tied up with the existing 

bank, but the entity has the potential to refinance the obligation? 

Solution 

(a) The loan is not due for payment at the end of the reporting period. The entity and the bank 

have agreed for the said roll over prior to the end of the reporting period for a period of 5 years. 

Since the entity has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period, the loan should be classified as non-current. 

(b) Yes, the answer will be different if the arrangement for roll over is agreed upon after the end 

of the reporting period, since assessment is required to be made based on terms of the existing 

loan facility. As at the end of the reporting period, the entity does not have an unconditional right 

to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. Hence 

the loan is to be classified as current. 

(c) Yes, loan facility arranged with new bank cannot be treated as refinancing, as the loan with the 

earlier bank would have to be settled which may coincide with loan facility arranged with a new 

bank. In this case, loan has to be repaid within a period of 9 months from the end of the reporting 

period, therefore, it will be classified as current liability 

(d)Yes, the answer will be different and the loan should be classified as current. This is because, as 

per paragraph 73 of Ind AS 1, when refinancing or rolling over the obligation isnot at the 

discretion of the entity (for example, there is no arrangement for refinancing), the entity does not 

consider the potential to refinance the obligation and classifies the obligation as current. 

15. In December 2XX1 an entity entered into a loan agreement with a bank. The 

loan is repayable in three equal annual installments starting from December 2XX5. One 

of the loancovenants is that an amount equivalent to the loan amount should be 

contributed by promoters by March 24 2XX2, failing which the loan becomes payable 

on demand. As on March 24, 2XX2, the entity has not been able to get the promoter‟s 

contribution. On March 25, 2XX2, the entity approached the bank and obtained a 

grace period up to June 30, 2XX2 to get the promoter‟s contribution. 

The bank cannot demand immediate repayment during the grace period. The annual reporting 

period of the entity ends on March 31, 2XX2. 

(a) As on March 31, 2XX2, how should the entity classify the loan? 

(b) Assume that in anticipation that it may not be able to get the promoter‟s contribution by 
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due date, in February 2XX2, the entity approached the bank and got the compliance date 

extended up to June 30, 2XX2 for getting promoter‟s contribution. In this case will the loan 

classification as on March 31, 2XX2 be different from (a) above? 

Solution 

(a) Paragraph 75 of Ind AS 1, inter alia, provides, ―An entity classifies the liability as non- 

current if the lender agreed by the end of the reporting period to provide a period of grace ending 

at least twelve months after the reporting period, within which the entity can rectify the breach 

and during which the lender cannot demand immediate repayment.‖ In the present case, following 

the default, grace period within which an entity can rectify the breach is less than twelve months 

after the reporting period. Hence as on March 31, 2XX2, the loan will be classified as current.  

(b) Ind AS 1 deals with classification of liability as current or non-current in case of breach of a 

loan covenant and does not deal with the classification in case of expectation of breach. In this 

case, whether actual breach has taken place or not is to be assessed on June 30, 2XX2, i.e., after 

the reporting date. Consequently, in the absence of actual breach of the loan covenant as on March 

31, 2XX2, the loan will retain its classification as non-current. 

 

Statement of Profit and Loss 

As a minimum, the statement of profit and loss shall includeline items that present the following 

amounts for the period: 

(a) revenue; 

(b) finance costs; 

(c) share of the profit or loss of associates and jointventures accounted for using the equity 

method; 

(d) tax expense; 

(e) a single amount comprising the total of: 

(i) the post-tax profit or loss of discontinuedoperations and 

(ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on themeasurement to fair value less costs to sell 

or onthe disposal of the assets or disposal group(s)constituting the discontinued 

operation; 

(f) profit or loss; 

(g) each component of other comprehensive incomeclassified by nature (excluding amounts in (h)); 

(h) share of the other comprehensive income of associatesand joint ventures accounted for using 

the equitymethod; and 

(i) total comprehensive income. 

 

 

An entity shall disclose the following items in the statement of profit and loss as allocations for the 

period: 

(i) profit or loss for the period attributable to: 

a. non-controlling interests, and 

b. owners of the parent. 

(ii) total comprehensive income for the period attributableto: 

a. non-controlling interests, and 

b. owners of the parent. 
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An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognized in profit or loss using a classification 

based on the nature ofexpense method. 

 

Statement of changes in equity 

The statementof changes in equity includes the following information: 

(i) total comprehensive income for the period, showing separately the total amounts attributable 

to owners ofthe parent and to non-controlling interests; 

(ii) for each component of equity, the effects of retrospectiveapplication or retrospective 

restatement recognised inaccordance with Ind AS 8;for each component of equity, a 

reconciliation betweenthe carrying amount at the beginning and the end of theperiod, 

separately disclosing each changes resultingfrom: 

(a) profit or loss; 

(b) each item of other comprehensive income; 

(c) transactions with owners in their capacity asowners, showing separately contributions by 

anddistributions to owners and changes in ownershipinterests in subsidiaries that do not 

result in a lossof control; and 

(d) any item recognised directly in equity such asamount recognised directly in equity as 

capitalreserve with paragraph 36A of Ind AS 103 

 

Disclosure of accounting policies 

An entity shall disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies: 

(a) the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing thefinancial statements, and 

(b) the other accounting policies used that are relevant toan understanding of the financial 

statements 

 

 

Example: 

For the purpose of the Group‘s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, 

convertible preference shares, share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the 

equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group‘s capital management is to 

maximise the shareholder value.  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 

conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 

shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net 

debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group‘s policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 

20% and 40%. The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and 

other payables, less cash and cash equivalents, excluding discontinued operations.  

 31 March 20X6 31 March 20X5 31 March 20X4 

Borrowings other than convertible 

preference shares 

Trade payables 

Other payables 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 

144,201 

 

126,489 

13,506 

(118,362) 

157,506 

 

136,563 

12,693 

(105,615) 

154,692 

 

125,778 

13,506 

(79,674) 

Net debt 165,834 201,147 214,302 
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Convertible preference shares 

Equity 

20,001 

429,600 

19,038 

337,000 

19,038 

304,000 

Total Capital 449,601 356,038 323,038 

Capital and net debt 

Gearing ratio 

615,435 

27 

557,185 

36 

537,340 

40 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group‘s capital management, amongst other things, 

aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants 

would permit the bank to immediately call loans andborrowings. There have been no breaches in the 

financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period. No changes 

were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 

March 20X6 and 31 March 20X5. 

Example 

Capital Allocation Policy:  

The Board reviewed and approved a revised Capital Allocation Policy of the Company after taking 

into consideration the strategic and operational cash requirements of the Company in the medium 

term. The key aspects of the Capital Allocation Policy are:1. The Company‘s current policy is to pay 

dividends of up to 50% of post-tax profits of the Financial Year. Effective from Financial Year 

2018, the Company expects to payout up to 70% of the free cash flow* of the corresponding 

Financial Year in such manner (including by way of dividend and/or share buyback) as may be 

decided by the Board from time to time,subject to applicable laws and requisite approvals, if any.2. 

In addition to the above, the Board has identified an amount of upto `13,000 crore ($2 billion)** to 

be paid out to shareholders during Financial Year 2018, in such manner (including by way of dividend 

and/ or share buyback), to be decided by the Board, subject to applicable laws and requisite 

approvals, if any.  

Further announcements in this regard will be made, as appropriate, in due course  

* Free cash flow is defined as net cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditure as 

per the consolidated statement of cash flows prepared under Ind AS USD/INR exchange rate as 

on March 31, 2017. Dividend payout includes Dividend Distribution Tax 

Example  

The groups objective when managing capital are  

• Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide 

returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and  

•Maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amounts of 

dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to 

reduce debt. Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the 

following gearing ratio: Net debt divided by the Total equity (as shown in balance sheet including 

Non-controlling Interest) 

During 20X5, the groups strategy which was unchanged from 20X4 was to maintain a gearing ratio 

within 20% to 30% and A credit rating. The credit rating was unchanged and the gearing ratio was 

within the limits as follows 

31 March 20X5  31 March 20X4 

Net debt      3, 384   3, 447 

Total equity      16,035   11,762 



 

CA. Sumit L. Sarda Presentation-1.43 

 

 

Net debt to equity     21%    29% 

 

16. A Limited has prepared the following draft balance sheet as on 31st March 

20X1: 

(` in crores) 

Particulars 20X1 20X0 

ASSETS 

Cash 

Cash equivalents 

Non-controlling interest‟s share of profit for the year 

Dividend declared by A Limited  

Accounts receivable 

Inventory at cost  

Inventory at fair value less cost to complete and sell 

Investment property 

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) at cost 

 

250 

70 

160 

90 

2300 

1500 

180 

3100 

5200 

 

170 

30 

150 

70 

1800 

1650 

130 

3100 

4700 

 12,850 11,800 

CLAIMS AGAINST ASSETS 

Long term debt (`500 crores due on 1st January each year) 

Interest accrued on long term debt (due in less than 12 months) 

Share Capital 

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 

Profit for the year  

Non-controlling interest  

Accumulated depreciation on PPE  

Provision for doubtful receivables  

Trade payables 

Accrued expenses 

Warranty provision (for 12 months from the date of sale) 

Environmental restoration provision (restoration expected in 20X6) 

Provision for accrued leave (due within 12 months) 

Dividend payable 

 

3300 

260 

1130 

1875 

1200 

830 

1610 

200 

880 

15 

600 

765 

 

35 

150 

 

3885 

290 

1050 

1740 

830 

540 

1240 

65 

790 

30 

445 

640 

 

25 

230 

 12,850 11,800 

Prepare a balance sheet using current and non-current classification in accordance with Ind 

AS 1. Assume operating cycle is 12 months.  

Solution 

A Limited Balance Sheet as at 31st March 20X1 

(`in crores) 

Particulars 20X1 20X0 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment (Refer Note 5) 

Investment property 

 

 

3590 

3100 

 

 

3460 

3100 

Total non-current assets 6690 6560 
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Current assets 

Inventory (Refer Note 6) 

Trade and other receivables (Refer Note 7) 

Cash and cash equivalents (Refer Note 8) 

 

1680 

2100 

320 

 

1780 

1735 

200 

Total current assets 4100 3715 

Total assets 10,790 10,275 

EQUITY & LIABILITIES 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 

Share capital 

Retained earnings (Refer Note 1) 

Non-controlling interests 

 

 

1130 

2825 

830 

 

 

1050 

2350 

540 

Total equity 4785 3940 

Non-current liabilities 

Long-term debt (Refer Note 2) 

Long-term provisions (environmental restoration) 

 

2800 

765 

 

3385 

640 

Total non-current liabilities 3565 4025 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables (Refer Note 3) 

Current portion of long-term debt (Refer Note 4) 

Interest accrued on long-term debt 

Warranty provision 

Other short-term provisions 

Dividends payable  

 

895 

500 

260 

600 

35 

150 

 

820 

500 

290 

445 

25 

230 

 2440 2310 

Total liabilities 6005 6335 

Total equity and liabilities 10,790 10,275 

Working Notes: 

Notes 

1. Retained earnings 

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year add Profit for the year less Non-controlling 

interest‘s share of profit for the year less Dividend declared by A Limited 

= 1,875 + 1,200 – 160 – 90 = 2825 

= (1,740 + 830 –150 – 70) = (2350) 

 

2. Long-term debt 

Long-term debt less Due on 1stJanuary each year 

= 3,300 – 500 = 2800 

= (3,885 – 500) = (3385) 

 

3. Trade & other payables 

Trade payables addAccrued expenses 

= 880 + 15 = 895 

= (790 + 30) = (820) 

 

4. Current portion of long-term debt 
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Due on 1st January each year- 500 

 

5. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) at cost less Accumulated (depreciation on PPE 

= 5,200 – 1,610 = 3590 

= (4,700 – 1,240) = (3460) 

 

6. Inventory 

Inventory at cost add Inventory at fair value less cost to complete and sell  

= 1,500 + 180 = 1680 

= (1,650 + 130) = (1780) 

 

7. Trade and other receivables 

Accounts receivable less Provision for doubtful receivables 

= 2,300 – 200 = 2100 

= (1,800 – 65) = (1735) 

 

8. Cash andcash equivalents 

= 250 + 70 = 320 

= (170 + 30) = (200) 

17. An entity manufactures passenger vehicles. The time between purchasing of 

underlying raw materials to manufacture the passenger vehicles and the date the entity 

completes the production and delivers to its customers is 11 months. Customers settle 

the dues after a period of 8 months from the date of sale. 

(a) Will the inventory and the trade receivables be current in nature?  

(b) Assuming that the production time was say 15 months and the time lag between the date 

of sale and collection from customers is 13 months, will the answer be different?  

Answer 

Inventory and debtors need to be classified in accordance with the requirement of Ind AS1, which 

provides that an asset shall be classified as current if an entity expects to realise the same, or 

intends to sell or consume it in its normal operating cycle. 

(a) In this case, time lag between the purchase of inventory and its realisation into cash is 19 

months [11 months + 8 months]. Both inventory and the debtors would be classified as current if 

the entity expects to realise these assets in its normal operating cycle.  

(b) No, the answer will be the same as the classification of debtors and inventory depends on the 

expectation of the entity to realise the same in the normal operating cycle. In this case, time lag 

between the purchase of inventory and its realisation into cash is 28 months [15 months + 13 

months]. Both inventory and debtors would be classified as current if the entity expects to realise 

these assets in the normal operating cycle 

18. In December 2XX1 an entity entered into a loan agreement with a bank. The 

loan is repayable in three equal annual instalments starting from December 2XX5. One 

of the loan covenants is that an amount equivalent to the loan amount should be 

contributed by promoters by March 24 2XX2, failing which the loan becomes payable 

on demand. As on March 24, 2XX2, the entity has not been able to get the promoter‟s 

contribution. On March 25, 2XX2, the entity approached the bank and obtained a 
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grace period upto June 30, 2XX2 to get the promoter‟s contribution. The bank cannot 

demand immediate repayment during the grace period. The annual reporting period of 

the entity ends on March 31, 2XX2. 

(a) As on March 31, 2XX2, how should the entity classify the loan?  

(b) Assume that in anticipation that it may not be able to get the promoter‟s contribution by 

due date, in February 2XX2, the entity approached the bank and got the compliance date 

extended upto June 30, 2XX2 for getting promoter‟s contribution. In this case will the loan 

classification as on March 31, 2XX2 be different from (a) above?  

Answer 

(a) Ind AS 1, inter alia, provides, ―An entity classifies the liability asnon-current if the lender 

agreed by the end of the reporting period to provide a period of grace ending at least twelve 

months after the reporting period, within which the entity can rectify the breach and during which 

the lender cannot demand immediate repayment.‖ In the present case, following the default, grace 

period within which an entity can rectify the breach is less than twelve months after the reporting 

period. Hence as on March 31, 2XX2, the loan will be classified as current.  

(b) Ind AS 1 deals with classification of liability as current or non-current in case of breach of a 

loan covenant and does not deal with the classification in case of expectation of breach. In this 

case, whether actual breach has taken place or not is to be assessed on June 30, 2XX2, i.e., after 

the reporting date. Consequently, in the absence of actual breach of the loan covenant as on March 

31, 2XX2, the loan will retain its classification as non-current 

 

 

19. Ganga-Kaveri Project Ltd. Was incorporated on 1.7.2002. During the year ended 

31.3.2003 there was no manufacturing or trading activity except raising of share capital, 

purchase of land, acquisition of plant and machinery and construction of factory sheds. 

Therefore, the Chief Accountant of the company contends that for the relevant year 

there was no need to prepare a statement of profit or loss or any other statement 

expect a Balance sheet as at 31.3.2003 

 

 As per facts of the case, Gang Kaveri Project Ltd. did not carry any manufacturing or trading 

activity except raising of share capital, purchase of land, acquisition of plant and machinery, etc. 

Section 129 of the Companies Act, 2013 requires preparation of the profit and loss account from the 

period beginning with the incorporation of the company. Though the company did not carry 

anymanufacturing or trading activity but the company has carried on certain activities like 

construction of factory shed, acquisition of plant and machinery etc. In such a case, it is necessary to 

provide for depreciation and other expenses. The mere fact that there was no manufacturing or 

trading activity cannot be the basis for not preparing the profit and loss account. Therefore, the 

contention of the Chief Accountant is not correct 

 

20. Entity A has undertaken various transactions in the financial year ended March 

31, 20X1. Identify and present the transactions in the financial statements as per Ind 

AS 1. 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans       2,57,000 

Current service cost           1,75,000 

Changes in revaluation surplus         1,25,000 
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Gains and losses arising from translating the monetary assets in foreign currency 75,000 

Gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a  

foreign operation           65,000 

Gains and losses from investments in equity instruments designated  

at fair value through other comprehensive income      1,00,000 

Income tax expense           35,000 

Share based payments cost         3,35,000 

(MTP May 18) 

Answer 

Items impacting the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March, 20X1 (`) 

Current service cost           1,75,000 

Gains and losses arising from translating the monetary assets in foreign currency  75,000 

Income tax expense           35,000 

Share based payments cost          3,35,000 

 

Items impacting the other comprehensive income for the year ended  31st March, 20X1 (`) 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans        2,57,000 

Changes in revaluation surplus         1,25,000 

Gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a foreign operation 65,000 

Gains and losses from investments in equity instruments designated at fair value  

through other comprehensive income        1,00,000 

 

21. ABC Ltd. is required to pay certain taxes levied by a local authority. In case of 

delay in payment of taxes, interest is leviable at the rate of 1%, 2%, 3%, per month on 

the amount in default, depending upon the length of period of delay. Whether interest 

leviable on the entity due to delay in payment of the taxes would form part of finance 

cost or whether it would be classified as part of „other expenses‟, in the statement of 

profit and loss as per the requirements of relevant Ind ASs and/or those of Division II 

of Schedule III to the Companies Act 2013? 

Answer:  

As per Schedule III, Division II, Note 4 of the General Instructions for the Preparation of the 

Statement of Profit and Loss, the finance costs shall be classified as-  

(a) Interest 

(b) Dividend on redeemable preference shares 

(c) Exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs 

(d) Other borrowing costs (specify nature) 

In the given case, local taxes not paid by due date represent interest bearing liabilities. The entity 

would need to evaluate whether the interest payable for delay in payment of taxes is compensatory in 

nature for time value of money or penal in nature. This requires exercise of judgment based on 

evaluation of facts of the case. 

Based on such evaluation, if it is concluded that interest is compensatory in nature then it shall be 

included in finance cost, if it is penal in nature, then it shall be classified under ‗other expenses‘. 

 

22. As at the end of its financial year 2017-18, Company A Limited had a wholly owned 

subsidiary, Company B Private Limited. Company A was covered in phase I of the Ind AS 
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applicability and accordingly had prepared its first Ind AS financial statements for the 

year ended March 31, 2017 and thereafter for year ended March 31, 2018. Company B 

Private Limited being a subsidiary of Company A Limited had also prepared its financial 

statements for the aforesaid financial years as per Ind ASs even though it did not on its 

own meet the net worth criterion for applicability of Ind ASs.  

During the financial year 2018-19, Company A Limited undertook a restructuring exercise, 

pursuant to which it transferred its shareholding in Company B Private Limited to its promoters 

who are individuals and therefore not required to comply with Ind ASs. Subsequent to the 

transfer, the promoters converted Company B Private Limited from a company to a Limited 

Liability Partnership (LLP), Entity B LLP following the due process of law.  

Whether the LLP needs to continue to prepare its financial statements under Ind AS from the 

financial year 2018-19 and onwards?  

Answer:  

The Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (‗the Rules‘) have been issued by the 

Central Government pursuant to powers conferred on it by section 133 read with section 469 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 (‗the Act‘). Subject to certain exceptions, the Rules require a company falling in 

any of classes of companies specified in this behalf in the Rules to follow Indian Accounting 

Standards (that are part of the Rules) in preparation of its financial statements under section 129 of 

the Act.  

A limited liability partnership is governed by the provisions of the Limited Liability Partnership Act, 

2008 and the Rules made thereunder.  

Once a company gets converted from a company into a limited liability partnership, the Companies Act 

2013 and the Rules framed thereunder cease to apply to it. As a limited liability partnership, it is 

instead governed by the provisions of the Limited Liability Partnership Act 2008 and the Rules 

framed thereunder. Consequently, in the given case, upon conversion of Company B Private Limited 

into an LLP, Ind ASs cease to apply to it. 

 

 Ind AS 1 AS 1 

Explicit 

Statement of 

Compliance 

An enterprise shall make an explicit statement in the financial 

statements of compliance with all the Indian Accounting 

Standards. Further, Ind AS 1 allows deviation from a 

requirement of an accounting standard in case the management 

concludes that compliance with Ind AS will be misleading and if 

the regulatory framework requires or does not prohibit such a 

departure. 

No such  

guidance 

given 

Current and 

Non-current  

Classification 

Ind AS 1 requires presentation and provides criteria for 

classification of Current / Non-Current assets / liabilities 

Extraordinary  

Items 

Ind AS 1 prohibits presentation of any item as ‗Extraordinary 

Item‘ in the statement of profit and loss or in the notes 

Disclosure of  

Judgements and 

Assumptions 

made 

Ind AS 1 requires disclosure of judgments made by management 

while framing of accounting policies. Also, it requires disclosure 

of key assumptions about the future and other sources of 

measurement of uncertainty that have significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
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liabilities within next financial year 

Classification of  

Expenses 

Ind AS 1 requires classification of expenses to be presented 

based on nature of expenses 

Comparative Ind AS 1 requires presentation of balance Balance Sheets sheet 

as at the beginning of the earliest period when an entity applies 

an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 

restatement of items in the financial statements, or when it 

reclassifies items in its financial statements 

Disclosure of  

Reclassified 

Items 

In respect of reclassification of items, Ind AS 1 requires 

disclosure of nature, amount and reason for reclassification in 

the notes to financial statements 

Statement of  

Changes in 

Equity 

Ind AS 1 requires the financial statements to include a 

Statement of Changes in Equity to be shown as a separate 

statement, which, inter alia, includes reconciliation between 

opening and closing balance for each component of equity. 

Statement of  

Other  

Comprehensive  

Income 

Ind AS 1 requires that an entity shall present a single statement 

of profit and loss, with profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income presented in two sections. The sections shall be 

presented together, with the profit or loss section presented 

first followed directly by the other comprehensive income 

section 

Inclusion of  

Comparative  

Information 

As per Ind AS 1, an entity shall include certain comparative 

information for understanding the current period‘s financial 

statements 

Classification of  

Long-t 

erm Loan  

Arrangement 

Ind AS 1 clarifies that long term loan arrangement need not be 

classified as current on account of breach of a material provision, 

for which the lender has agreed to waive before the approval of 

financial statements for issue 

 

 

Carve outs 

 Ind AS IAS 

Carrying amount as 

deemed cost 

Ind AS 1 permits Carrying amount of 

PPE, intangible assets and investment 

property to continue for first time 

adopter (deemed cost option under 

Ind AS 101) 

IAS 1 Does not offer any such 

option 

Classification of lease 

of land and building 

Ind AS 101 First time adopter may 

assess classification of lease of land 

and building on the date of transition 

IFRS 1 first time adopter shall 

review lease classification 

retrospectively 

Exchange fluctuation 

on long term foreign 

currency monetary 

items 

First time adopter may continue the 

policy of deferral of exchange 

fluctuation on such assets as per Ind 

AS 101 

No such adoption permitted 

under IFRS 

Noncurrent assets Noncurrent assets held for sale are Have to be valued 
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held for sale and 

discontinued 

operations 

allowed to be measured on the date 

of transition as per Ind AS 101 

retrospectively from the date 

asset was held for sale 

Business combination 

of entities under 

common control 

Ind AS 103 lays down principles for 

common control business 

combinations 

No such guideline under IFRS 

3 

Bargain purchase gain Recognize in other comprehensive 

income as per Ind AS 103 

Recognize in P&L as per IFRS 3 

Operating segments 

applicability 

As per company‘s rules and act under 

Ind AS 108 

IFRS 8 sets out applicability 

rules 

Fair value hedge Prohibited in Ind AS 109 Option to apply fair value 

hedge of interest rate 

exposure of a portfolio of 

Financial assets and financial 

liabilities as provided in IFRS 

9 

Penalties Penalties which are inherent in 

determining transaction price shall 

form part of consideration as per Ind 

AS 11 

No such guideline 

Excise duty Present excise duty separately 

included in revenue as per Ind AS 18 

No such requirement under 

IFRS 15 

P&L and OCI P&L is followed by OCI under Ind AS 

1 

P&L & OCI can be 2 separate 

statements under IAS 1 

Breach of long term 

arrangement 

Where there is breach of material 

provisions of long term loan 

arrangement on or before the end of 

reporting period with the effect that 

liability becomes payable on demand 

on reporting date, entity need not 

classify the liability as current if 

lender agreed to rectify breach 

before approval of financial 

statement under Ind AS 1 

IAS 1 requires such loan to be 

classified as current 

Dividend paid Is to be classified as financing 

activities under Ind AS 7 

Can be classified as operating 

activity under IAS 7 

Escalation of lease 

rent 

Escalation in lease rent under 

operating lease is in line with general 

inflation index need not be straight 

lined under Ind AS 17 

Escalation in lease rent under 

operating lease is justified 

need not be straight lined 

under IAS 17 

Discount rate Discount rate under Ind AS 19 shall 

be based on government bonds for 

discounting post-employment benefit 

plans 

Discount rate under IAS 19 

shall be based on corporate 

bonds 

Non-monetary govt Ind AS 20 required measurement at IAS 20 requires measurement 
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grant fair value at Fair value or cost 

Grant accounting Shall only be accounted as deferred 

income under Ind AS 20 

Option to deduct from the 

value of depreciable asset as 

per IAS 20 

Exchange difference 

as borrowing cost 

Inserted under Ind AS 23 Does not exist in IAS 23 

Related parties Include brother, sister, father and 

mother as per Ind AS 24 

Includes them only if they are 

dependent as per IAS 24 

Equity method Prohibited under Ind AS 27 Allowed inder IAS 27 

Uniform accounting 

policies 

Not required under Ind AS 28 if it is 

impracticable 

Required under IAS 28 

Foreign currency 

convertible bonds 

Equity conversion option embedded in 

foreign convertible bonds to acquire 

fixed no. of equity instruments is 

considered equity instrument as per 

Ind AS 32 

Considered as financial liability 

EPS Required in both separate and 

consolidated financial statements 

under Ind AS 33 

Only in consolidated financial 

statement under IAS 33 

Accounting for 

preference shares 

Effective interest rate not calculated 

for preference shares 

Preference shares issued at 

discount or premium are 

included in computation of 

effective rate of interest as 

per IFRS 9 

Intangible asset 

received as govt 

grant 

Recognized at fair value under Ind 

AS 38 

Option to recognize at fair 

value or nominal value under 

IAS 38 

Property at fair value Investment property under Ind AS 

40 are values at cost 

Option to value at cost or fair 

value under IAS 40 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


